






Internal 

  
Commission on the  
 Status of Women 

2180 Milvia Street – 5th Floor • Berkeley • CA • 94704 • Tel. 510.981.7071 • TDD: 510.981.6903 • Fax: 510.981.7099 

Commission on the Status of Women 
Regular Meeting – March 15, 2023 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 
The meeting convened at 6:18pm with Chairperson Marasovic presiding.  
 
 
ROLL CALL  
 
Present:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 

/////////////////  
 

 
Comments from the Public  
  
 Public attendance: 0  
 Public comments: 1  

    
/////////////////  
 
Action 
 
Item # 2:  The Commission on the Status of Women moved to amend the agenda as follows: 

Item 14 - deletion of the word “elderly” and replaced with “older”; deletion of Item 15 
- “Legislative and Council Update”; deletion of Item 17 “Good of the Order” then 
approved the March 15, 2023 agenda as amended.  

 
M/S/C:  Marasovic/Rodriguez  
Ayes:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 
/////////////////  
 

 
Item # 3:  The Commission on the Status of Women approved the February 15, 2023 meeting 

minutes.  
 
M/S/C:  Marasovic/Seshagiri  
Ayes:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 
/////////////////  



Internal 
Commission on the Status of Women 
DRAFT Minutes – March 15, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 

/////////////////  
 
Item # 5:  Leslie Berkler, Executive Director, Women’s Daytime Drop-In Center, presented on 

needs of low-income women. Discussion. No action taken.   
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 6:  Berkeley Police Department. Discussion. No action taken.   
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 8:  The Commission on the Status of Women passed a motion and agreed to read the 

Land Acknowledgment recognizing Berkeley as the Ancestral, Unceded Home of the 
Ohlone People as passed by City Council on October 11, 2022 at the start of all future 
commission meetings.  

 
M/S/C:  Seshagiri/Rodriguez  
Ayes:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 9:  The Commission on the Status of Women voted to change the start time from 6pm to 

7pm of future commission meetings and will continue to meet at the South Berkeley 
Senior Center in Conference Room A (Large Conference Room); subject to change if 
Commission takes future action. 

 
M/S/C:  Marasovic/Rodriguez  
Ayes:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 10:  The Commission on the Status of Women voted to recommend that Council write a 

letter to the Governor, State Attorney General, State Senate, and State Assembly in 
support of the Governor’s decision to not renew a $54 million-dollar contract with 
Walgreens’= due to Walgreens’ decision to not make available reproductive choice 
medication.   

 
M/S/C:  Marasovic/Seshagiri  
Ayes:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 
 
/////////////////  
 



Internal 
Commission on the Status of Women 
DRAFT Minutes – March 15, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
Item # 11:  The Commission on the Status of Women voted to write a letter to Council in support 

of the Homeless Services Panel of Experts’ letter of recommendation to City Council 
to allocate funding towards a transition house for women and women-identifying 
fleeing from domestic violence, gender-based violence, intimate partner violence and 
sex trafficking.  

 
M/S/C:  Rodriguez/Seshagiri  
Ayes:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 13:  The Commission on the Status of Women passed a motion for the Chair to distribute 

information and advise Council during public comment at the next council meeting 
that April 11-17 commemorates Black Maternal Health Week; October is Black 
Maternal Health Month, and the last week of August recognizes Black Breastfeeding 
Week.   

 
M/S/C:  Marasovic/Rodriguez  
Ayes:  Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
Absent:  Henneman, Posey 
Excused: Simon 
 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:45pm. 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
 
Shallon Allen, Secretary  
Commission on the Status of Women 







Tuesday, March 14, 2023 AGENDA Page 1 

P R O C L AM AT I O N  
C AL L I N G A S PE C I AL  M E E TI NG  O F T HE

B E R K E LE Y C I T Y  C O U N CI L  
In accordance with the authority in me vested, I do hereby call the Berkeley City Council in special 

session as follows: 

Tuesday, March 14, 2023 
4:00 PM 

SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD ROOM - 1231 ADDISON STREET, BERKELEY, CA 94702 
TELECONFERENCE LOCATION - 1404 LE ROY AVE, BERKELEY 94708 

JESSE ARREGUIN, MAYOR 
Councilmembers: 

DISTRICT 1 – RASHI KESARWANI DISTRICT 5 – SOPHIE HAHN 
DISTRICT 2 – TERRY TAPLIN  DISTRICT 6 – SUSAN WENGRAF 
DISTRICT 3 – BEN BARTLETT  DISTRICT 7 – RIGEL ROBINSON 
DISTRICT 4 – KATE HARRISON  DISTRICT 8 – MARK HUMBERT 

This meeting will be conducted in a hybrid model with both in-person attendance and virtual participation. For in-
person attendees, face coverings or masks that cover both the nose and the mouth are encouraged. If you are 
feeling sick, please do not attend the meeting in person. 

Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable B-TV (Channel 33) and via internet 
accessible video stream at http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244. 

Remote participation by the public is available through Zoom. To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, 
Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please use this URL: https://cityofberkeley-
info.zoomgov.com/j/1600955724.  If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop 
down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  To request to speak, use the “raise 
hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the screen. To join by phone: Dial 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864
(Toll Free) and enter Meeting ID: 160 095 5724. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the 
agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.  

Please be mindful that the meeting will be recorded and all rules of procedure and decorum apply for in-person 
attendees and those participating by teleconference or videoconference. 

To submit a written communication for the City Council’s consideration and inclusion in the public record, email 
council@cityofberkeley.info. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953 and 
applicable Executive Orders as issued by the Governor that are currently in effect.  Any member of the public may 
attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 
981-6900. The City Council may take action related to any subject listed on the Agenda. Meetings will adjourn at
11:00 p.m. - any items outstanding at that time will be carried over to a date/time to be specified.

Page 1

http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1600955724
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1600955724
mailto:council@cityofberkeley.info


   

Tuesday, March 14, 2023 AGENDA Page 2 

 
 

Preliminary Matters 

Roll Call:  
 

Worksession 

 

1.  Berkeley Police Department Annual Report, 2022 Year End Data Reports 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Jennifer Louis, Police, (510) 981-5900 

 

Public Comment - Items on this agenda only 

Adjournment 

I hereby request that the City Clerk of the City of Berkeley cause personal notice to be given to each 
member of the Berkeley City Council on the time and place of said meeting, forthwith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the official seal of the City of 
Berkeley to be affixed on this 9th day of March, 2023. 

 
Jesse Arreguin, Mayor 

Public Notice – this Proclamation serves as the official agenda for this meeting. 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Date:  March 9, 2023 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to 
approve or deny a use permit or variance for a project the following requirements and restrictions apply:  
1) No lawsuit challenging a City decision to deny (Code Civ. Proc. §1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 
65009(c)(5)) a use permit or variance may be filed more than 90 days after the date the Notice of 
Decision of the action of the City Council is mailed. Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be 
barred.  2) In any lawsuit that may be filed against a City Council decision to approve or deny a use 
permit or variance, the issues and evidence will be limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally 
or in writing, at a public hearing or prior to the close of the last public hearing on the project. 
 

Archived indexed video streams are available at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas. 

Channel 33 rebroadcasts the following Wednesday at 9:00 a.m. and Sunday at 9:00 a.m. 
 

Communications to the City Council are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic 
records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, 
addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to the City Council, will become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or 
any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
to the City Clerk Department at 2180 Milvia Street. If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the City 
Clerk Department for further information. 
 

Page 2

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas


   

Tuesday, March 14, 2023 AGENDA Page 3 

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda 
will be made available for public inspection at the public counter at the City Clerk Department located on 
the first floor of City Hall located at 2180 Milvia Street as well as posted on the City's website at 
https://berkeleyca.gov/. 

Agendas and agenda reports may be accessed via the Internet at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas 

and may be read at reference desks at the following locations: 

City Clerk Department - 2180 Milvia Street, First Floor 
Tel:  510-981-6900, TDD:  510-981-6903, Fax:  510-981-6901 

Email:  clerk@cityofberkeley.info 
 

Libraries: Main – 2090 Kittredge Street, 
Claremont Branch – 2940 Benvenue, West Branch – 1125 University, 

North Branch – 1170 The Alameda, Tarea Hall Pittman South Branch – 1901 Russell 
 
COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location.  
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or 
services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 (V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) 
at least three business days before the meeting date. 
Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting.  

 

Captioning services are provided at the meeting, on B-TV, and on the Internet.  In addition, assisted 
listening devices for the hearing impaired are available from the City Clerk prior to the meeting, and are to 
be returned before the end of the meeting. 
 

Page 3

https://berkeleyca.gov/
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas


Page 4



  

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704    Tel: 510.981.7000    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981-7099

E-mail: manager@ci.berkeley.ca.us

Office of the City Manager

WORKSESSION
           March 14, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jennifer Louis, Interim Chief of Police 

Subject: Berkeley Police Department Annual Report
2022 Year End Data Reports

INTRODUCTION

At the request of City Council, the City Manager provides regular reports on crime in 
Berkeley. This report details the year end crime, collision, stop data and use of force 
data for 2022. Status updates will also be provided on several Council referral items and 
department initiatives. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS

CALLS FOR SERVICE

In 2022 Berkeley Police Department received a total of 62,245 calls for service (CFS). 
This closely mirrors the call volume reported for 2021 (60,393 total), as calls for service 
have not returned to pre-pandemic levels to date. BPD has received an average 71,113 
CFS per year for the past 7 years.

CRIME DATA

Part One Crimes

In 2022, total Part One crime in Berkeley increased by 15.4% overall from the year 
prior. Part One Violent Crimes increased by 134 cases and Part One Property Crimes 

Page 1 of 24

Page 5

rthomsen
Typewritten Text
01

rthomsen
Typewritten Text
Worksession Item



  

2

increased by 826 cases. The largest percentage increases in Part One Crimes were 
seen in Sexual Assault (56.1%), Aggravated Assault (34.3%), and Burglary (29.0%). 
Decreases were seen in Auto Theft (-23.9%) and Arson (-27.8%).

Part One Crimes Comparison

2021 2022 Change %Change
HOMICIDE 0 3 3 +3
RAPE 57 89 32 56.1%
ROBBERY 265 292 27 10.2%
AGG ASSAULT 210 282 72 34.3%

TOTAL VIOLENT 
CRIMES 536 666 134 25.2%

BURGLARY 803 1036 233 29.0%
LARCENY 3736 4611 875 18.9%
AUTO THEFT 1098 836 -262 23.9%
ARSON 72 52 -20 27.8%

TOTAL PROPERTY 
CRIMES 5709 6535 826 14.5%

TOTAL PART ONE 
CRIMES 6241 7201 960 15.4%

 
The following chart provides historical crime data for Part One Crimes from 2013 
through 2022:

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Homicide 4 3 1 2 1 1 0 5 0 3

Sexual 
Assault 26 35 44 54 83 65 74 47 57 89

Robbery 410 263 330 361 364 353 369 274 265 292
Aggravated 

Assault 122 130 155 185 218 167 175 210 210 282
Burglary 1055 932 1090 805 843 829 771 797 803 1036
Larceny 3658 3615 4099 3965 4556 4004 4993 3933 3736 4611

Auto Theft 664 555 717 650 621 548 492 805 1098 836
Arson 16 15 22 24 30 31 17 52 72 52

TOTAL 5955 5548 6458 6046 6716 5998 6891 6123 6241 7201

Page 2 of 24

Page 6



  

3

Part One Crimes per Capita:

With a population of 117,684 in 2022, there were 612 part one crimes overall per 10,000 
residents. There were 57 violent crimes per 10,000 residents and 555 property crimes 
per 10,000 residents.

Using the latest publicly available DOJ data, we know that in 2021, there were 47 
violent crimes and 219 property crimes reported for every 10,000 residents in California. 
Also, in 2021, Oakland (pop. 433,823) reported 145 violent crimes and 582 property 
crimes per 10,000; San Leandro (pop. 88,868) reported 56 violent crimes and 380 
property crimes per 10,000 residents; Santa Clara (pop. 127,151) reported 23 violent 
crimes and 276 property crimes per 10,000 residents.1

Gun Violence and Firearm Seizure:

The total number of shootings rose slightly in the City of Berkeley in 2022. During this 
reporting period there were 53 confirmed shooting incidents versus 52 in 2021. 
Confirmed shooting incidents include witnessed events as well as loud report calls 
where shell casings or other evidence of gunfire was found. In 2022, BPD’s closure rate 
for shootings was 38% despite the fact that many incidents are heard only or have few 
witnesses or leads. Forensic and electronic evidence, diligent and detailed investigative 
efforts, as well as community willingness to share information was critical to developing 
leads and chargeable cases. 

SHOOTINGS 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
TOTAL 20 28 40 52 53

Cases Closed 11 9 23 24 20
Cases Charged 6 6 15 15 17

In 2022 there were a total of 119 firearms recovered by BPD, which was an increase of 
1%. In 2022, 34 of the firearms seized were ghost guns compared to 33 in 2022 and 6 
in 2020.

FIREARM RECOVERY METHODS 2019 2020 2021 2022
Patrol calls for service 33 36 51 64

Patrol proactive traffic stops 25 17 24 12
Detective Follow-up investigation 29 32 43 43

TOTAL 87 85 118 119

1 State of California Department of Justice - OpenJustice

Page 3 of 24

Page 7

https://openjustice.doj.ca.gov/exploration/crime-statistics/crimes-clearances


  

4

Robbery:

Total robbery cases continue to remain below pre-pandemic levels. The most notable 
change during 2022 was the increase in the number of pedestrian robberies. 

ROBBERY CASES 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Pedestrian 229 247 131 119 148

Commercial 108 97 117 118 117
Home Invasion 5 4 8 8 8

Bank 3 2 5 6 4
Carjacking 10 14 13 14 15

TOTAL 355 364 274 265 292

Hate Crimes: 

In 2022 there were 38 incidents of hate crimes, down from 42 in 2021. Hate Crime 
reports continue to be primarily reported as crimes of intimidation (either by using slurs 
or by leaving graffiti) rather than crimes of violence.

HATE CRIMES 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Race/Ethnicity/National Origin 11 5 7 29 24

Religion 3 1 2 11 3
Sexual Orientation 3 2 1 2 11

Gender 1 0 2 0 0
Disability 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 18 8 12 42 38

The Department led a coordinated multi-city department response to the Council referral 
item on improving hate crimes reporting and response. Several recommendations were 
completed including a public-facing mapping tool for hate crimes, a public outreach 
video in collaboration with the Mayor and PAB, ongoing relationships with at-risk 
communities, and connections with BUSD and UCPD staff. BPD provided a Council 
update on progress on this referral in November of 2022. Work continues on developing 
additional partnerships with targeted groups and creating a multi-lingual public outreach 
video.

Additional Property Crimes:

In addition to the Part One Property Crimes data provided above, additional Property 
Crimes data is as follows:

Page 4 of 24

Page 8



  

5

2019 2020 2021 2022
Catalytic Converter Thefts 150 523 477 995*

Auto Burglary 2473 1042 1021 1288

*The total for 2022 includes attempted catalytic converter thefts and reports of damage.
In 2022, 809 catalytic converters were reported stolen.

COLLISION DATA 

In 2022, there were a total of 896 collisions. They included, 548 injury and 346 non-
injury collisions. Total collisions increased by 107, or 13.6% from 2021. Non-injury 
collisions decreased by 1.4% and fatal collisions decreased by 71.4%. Injury collisions 
increased by 27.2% and DUI collisions increased by 35.9%.  
 
COLLISIONS 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Fatal collisions 4 2 7 2 
Injury collisions  520 316 431 548 
Non-injury collisions 405 271 351 346 

TOTAL collisions 929 589 789 896 
 
The most common cause of collisions (the primary collision factor or PCF) was failure to 
yield right of way, unsafe speed, unsafe turn, and red-light violations. Bicyclists (114) 
and pedestrians (83) accounted for 36% of the injury collisions. Bicyclists were found at 
fault in 54 of the collisions and pedestrians in 10 of the collisions. A closer examination 
of the 54 at fault injury collisions involving a bicycle revealed 16 involved a solo bicyclist 
falling or hitting an object. There have been 47 right of way violations that have caused 
injury to a pedestrian this year. 

Page 5 of 24

Page 9



  

6

  
Of the two fatal collisions in 2022, one involved a pedestrian and the other a solo 
motorcyclist versus a fixed object (where alcohol was a factor). Additionally, 53 
collisions involved a DUI driver (an increase from 39 in 2021) which resulted in 25 
injuries. There have been 47 right of way violations that have caused injury to a 
pedestrian this year. 
  
The two intersections which accounted for the highest number of collisions were 
Shattuck Ave and Haste St and Ashby and Shattuck Avenues (tied with 12 collisions 
each). The top twelve intersections where collisions occurred were: 
 

COLLISION INTERSECTIONS 
Total 

Collisions 
Injury 

Collisions 
# of People 

Injured 
Suspected 

Serious Injury 
Shattuck Ave / Haste St 12 10 14 2 
Ashby Ave / Shattuck Ave 12 9 10 2 
Ashby Ave / San Pablo Ave 11 6 14 1 
Ashby Ave / Sacramento St 11 6 6 0 
University Ave / 6th St 10 4 5 0 
MLK Jr Way / Ashby Ave 10 5 5 0 
University Ave / Acton St 8 4 6 1 
Dwight Way / Sacramento St 6 4 5 0 
San Pablo Ave / Cedar St 5 2 2 0 
University Ave / MLK Jr Way 5 5 6 1 
Ashby Ave / College Ave 5 5 6 0 
Shattuck Ave / Dwight Way 5 2 2 0 

 Suspected serious injury is any injury other than a fatality that results in significant injury as defined in the CHP Collision 
Investigation Manual (CHP, 2017, p. 5-5) 

 
The following provides historical data on fatal collisions in the City of Berkeley:
 

 

Page 6 of 24

Page 10



  

7

As previously stated, bicycles were involved in 114 of the injury collisions and 
pedestrians were involved in 83. Right of way violations affected pedestrians in 47 of 
those collisions. The primary collision factor was found to be the bicyclist in 54 
collisions, the pedestrian in 10 collisions and DUI in 25 collisions. 
 

 

BPD applied for and was awarded grant funding that supports our efforts to reduce 
traffic collisions and impaired driving in Berkeley. Grant sources include the Office of 
Traffic Safety (Selective Traffic Enforcement Program / STEP Grant) and the California 
Highway Patrol Cannabis Tax Fund Grant to provide additional enforcement, education 
and traffic safety programs. The funding allows us to standup DUI checkpoints, DUI 
patrols and provide enforcement in locations identified as high collision areas targeting 
dangerous driving behavior. Grant funding allows officers to attend training to become 
proficient in field sobriety testing to detect both alcohol and drug impairment. In 
partnership with OTS and other law enforcement agencies throughout the state BPD 
participates in national campaigns such as pedestrian safety month, winter DUI 
mobilization, distracted driving awareness, bicycle safety, motorcycle safety, walk to 
school day and click it or ticket enforcement. 
 
A 2020 survey from the AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety found that people who drove 
more than usual during the pandemic were more likely to engage in risky behaviors 
including reading text messages, speeding, running red lights on purpose, aggressively 
changing lanes, not wearing seat belts, or driving after having consumed alcohol or 
cannabis. According to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHSTSA) 
traffic fatalities decreased in 2022 overall; however, pedestrians, motorcyclists and 
bicyclist fatalities were up.  
 
Currently, there are two full time traffic enforcement (motorcycle) officers, one data 
analyst, one sergeant and one lieutenant assigned to the Traffic Bureau. With three 

Page 7 of 24

Page 11



  

8

officers short, the Traffic Bureau issued 38% of all moving violations for the department. 
Staffing shortages within BPD have made enforcement of dangerous driving behaviors 
challenging. 
 
The BPD has reprioritized traffic enforcement efforts around a three-prong approach 
that focuses on primary collision factors, community member reports and observations 
reported to the BPD and community caretaking. Community caretaking functions 
consider safety violations that aren’t always noted as the primary collision factor but can 
be a significant contributing factor in serious collisions. The BPD will continue to collect, 
analyze collision data to understand and guide needs, the effectiveness of enforcement 
strategies and shape future deployment and resource allocation.

STOP DATA REPORT

In October 2020, the Berkeley Police Department began tracking and ultimately supplying 
the State of California with our stop data pursuant to the Racial Identity Profiling Act 
(RIPA). BPD began this data collection a full two and a half years before agencies our 
size were required to comply with RIPA. Berkeley began this process early as part of the 
department’s efforts to better capture, understand and share the data associated with our 
stops.

During 2022, BPD averaged 258 vehicle stops, 162 pedestrian stops, and 8 bicycle stops 
per month for a 2022 total of 3,101 vehicle stops, 1942 pedestrian stops, and 94 bicycle 
stops. Here’s the monthly breakdown:

Overall, the majority of all of our stops (64.67%) were self-initiated and focused on traffic 
violations. The remaining 35.33% of our stops were in response to a call for service. The 
following graph outlines the reasons for the stop, with blue bars representing self-initiated 
activity and red bars indicating a response to a call for service. 

Page 8 of 24

Page 12



  

9

The table below outlines the moving violations associated with our stops. The violations 
related to this year’s stop data correlate with primary collision factors (discussed earlier 
in this report), as well as other serious traffic safety violations geared toward community 
caretaking.

Page 9 of 24

Page 13



  

10

A review of the stop demographics excluding stops made in response to calls for service 
and information-based stops over the last year showed White individuals made up 
32.27% of those stops, Black individuals made up 27.74%, and Latinx 18.54%. Further, 
51.12% of those stopped were not Berkeley residents.

Page 10 of 24

Page 14



  

11

The chart below again looks at the moving violations associated with our stops and 
breaks down how they compare among different demographic groups.

RIPA data entry also allowed us to capture information about search rates. In 2022 BPD’s 
search rate for all stops was 20% and had an overall contraband yield rate of 51%. Those 
searches resulted in the seizure of 92 weapons, including 16 firearms.

One method of determining whether officer discretion is influenced by implicit racial bias 
is to measure whether the officer’s decision to search is subject to a lower threshold of 
suspicion for Black and Brown people as compared to for White people. Often called 
yield rate analysis, the method assumes that race-neutral indicators observable by an 
officer will accurately predict the probability that a search will turn up contraband. The 
logic follows that a search triggered by a given level of suspicion based on race-neutral 

Page 11 of 24

Page 15



  

12

factors will ‘yield’ contraband at the same rate across racial groups. Conversely, a lower 
yield rate for searches of White people as compared to searches of Black people would 
indicate that officers are deciding to search White people when they have a higher 
confidence of finding contraband.

Breaking down the demographic and contraband yield rate by race reveals the following:
 Black 28% search rate 51% yield rate
 White 20% search rate 50% yield rate
 Hispanic/Latino(a) 17% search rate 59% yield rate

The 1:1 yield rate ratio for searches of Black and White subjects suggests that officers 
are making decisions to search based on race-neutral factors.

USE OF FORCE REPORT

Berkeley Police Department takes pride in our ability to accomplish our work with minimal 
reliance on force through approaches that include de-escalation techniques, as well as 
an awareness of mental health crisis issues and appropriate responses. The department 
reinforces these skills and strategies through regular training.

A review of the Berkeley Police Department’s use of force statistics reflects the 
department's commitment to using minimal force. Data covering January 2015 through 
December 2022 shows the department responded to an annual average of 71,113 calls 
for service per year and effectuated 2,765 arrests. Under the department’s prior reporting 
standards, there was an average of 75 uses of force per year.

In February 2021, BPD transitioned to a new Use of Force Policy that had several 
substantial changes, that included a de-escalation requirement and an expanded use of 
force reporting standard. Under this policy, reportable force is delineated into the following 
four categories:

 Level 1 – Involves grabs, control holds, the use of leverage, or body weight with 
no injury or complaint of pain.

 Level 2 – Applies when an officer points or deploys a firearm while interacting with 
someone. It also applies to a Level 1 force that involves more than momentary 
discomfort but does not have an injury or complaint of pain.

 Level 3 – Parallels our old Use of Force reporting standard and involves the use 
of a weapon, subject injury, or complaint of pain. This category also applies to 
specific circumstances when an officer does not activate their body-worn camera.

 Level 4 – Applies when an officer uses a firearm or when there is an in-custody 
death. 

The department use of force policy requires officers to report uses of force to their 
sergeant, who documents these incidents in a formal report. A lieutenant and captain 

Page 12 of 24

Page 16



  

13

review each report, including associated body worn camera (BWC) footage, before 
forwarding it to Internal Affairs. In a given incident, more than one technique or type of 
force may be used to bring a resistant or combative individual into custody, and more 
than one officer may use force during the incident. 

During 2022 there were 62,245 Calls for Service and 2478 arrests. Under the new 
reporting standard, in 2022 there were 369 incidents that involved 1301 uses of force. Of 
the 369 incidents where force was used, 68.5% were Level 1 uses of force, and 27.6% 
were level two. These two categories accounted for 96.1% of uses of force, demonstrating 
BPD officers’ commitment to using minimal force when it is required. The department 
started capturing our updated use of force data in March of 2021, the Chart below 
compares our 2022 statistics for the same time period.

While the department has consistently evaluated individual use of force incidents, our 
expanded data collection and analysis tools allow us to understand and evaluate our use 
of force trends and share them with the community. We also use this information to help 
inform our policies and training. Here is a summary of our key findings:

Page 13 of 24

Page 17



  

14

Data indicates that the majority of our uses of force occurred when officers responded 
to calls for service from the community. Use of Force occurred most often in relation to 
arrests and the majority of the force incidents involved the lowest level of force.

Page 14 of 24

Page 18



  

15

Page 15 of 24

Page 19



  

16

Demographic breakdown of uses of force:

Page 16 of 24

Page 20



  

17

This year's use of force trends parallel last year’s, and show that BPD officers minimally 
use force and apply the lowest levels of force when circumstances require it. Of the 
62,245 calls for service that BPD received in 2022, only 0.42% (266 incidents) resulted 
in a use of force incident, and only 0.03% (19) resulted in a use of force that produced 
more than a minor complaint of pain or where a weapon was used (Level 3 and 4). 
Additionally, trends show that calls for service account for a larger percentage of cases 
where force was used this year (75.85% versus 68.5%), much of which was attributed 
to a reduction in force incidents associated with investigative stops.

One of the other ways the department evaluates our responses is by tracking data 
associated with use of force complaints.  While all of our use of force cases are always 
reviewed by a Lieutenant and Captain, those associated with a personnel complaint are 
also subject to an Internal Affairs Bureau (IAB) investigation. The results of the 
investigation (including BWC footage) are given to a Board of Review that evaluates the 
case and makes a recommendation to the Chief.
 
In 2022 the department received a total of five complaints associated with use of force 
incidents involving 19 applications of force. To date, three of those investigations have 
been completed while two are still being evaluated. Additionally, two out of those three 
cases were also independently assessed by the Director of Police Accountability and 
Police Accountability Board.  None of the cases reviewed by the department or the DPA 
/PAB resulted in sustained findings of misconduct.

The department will continue to collect, evaluate, and assess our use of force data and 
use it to inform our policies and training with a focus on achieving positive outcomes. 

DEPARTMENT PERSONNEL

The Berkeley Police Department prides itself on rigorous evaluation of police officer 
applicants, as well as hiring and training some of the profession’s best officers who 
exemplify the Department’s overall mission as well as the values of our diverse and 
vibrant City. Beyond the expectations to successfully complete training and education 
requirements, the Department demands that officers hold themselves to a departmental 
culture of integrity, respect and professionalism.

We are currently staffed at 150 sworn police officers, well below our current authorized 
staffing level of 181 sworn personnel. Three of those positions are held by recruit 
officers who are currently in academy training and will not reach solo officer status until 
Fall 2023. Twenty of the 150 officers are eligible to retire and several of them have 
stated an intent to retire over the course of 2023. 

Berkeley Police Department currently is authorized 36 dispatch positions, and is 
currently staffed with 20 dispatchers and 4 dispatch supervisors. There are currently 5 
dispatchers and 1 supervisor that are eligible to retire. The Communications Center is 
supported by several per diem and other dispatch qualified employees who alleviate 
some of the strain of understaffing. In a recent consultant report by Federal 

Page 17 of 24

Page 21



  

18

Engineering, the recommendation is to increase the total staffing number from 36 to 60 
employees (Section 6.2). The goals of the higher staffing number include ensuring the 
ability to provide Emergency Medical Dispatching (EMD), improve the span of control 
for supervisors, increase minimum staffing and creating a Training & Quality Assurance 
Coordinator position.

We are also in the process of hiring additional Community Service Officers (CSO).  We 
are authorized 29 CSO and are currently staffed with 23.  For the last several years we 
were authorized 22 CSO but six CSO and a CSO Supervisor were added to the Fiscal 
Year 2023 budget as a recommendation stemming from the reimagining public safety 
process.  The additional CSO will be trained to respond to lower priority calls and a 
variety of tasks that would have traditionally fallen to a sworn officer.  Community 
outreach and engagement will be part of the work of CSO as well.  Staff has 
encountered difficulty identifying the scope of necessary training and attracting existing 
CSO to this developing position since it was only funded on a limited three-year term in 
the FY 2023 budget.  The Department is committed to supporting this reimagining public 
safety goal and will continue work to develop this program.                

Low staffing numbers challenge the department’s ability to proactively address and 
solve problems in the community. It also negatively impacts morale and the overall 
wellness of the Department. The Department continues to actively recruit and work with 
Human Resources to facilitate open and continuous recruitments to reach full staffing of 
police officers and dispatchers. Furthermore, to help address the challenges associated 
with hiring, in 2022 the Department committed to the creation of a Recruitment and 
Retention Team. That team is comprised of officers and dispatchers who work with 
Personnel and Training on a part time basis to attend job fairs, work on our social media 
outreach, respond to applicants who submit interest cards and facilitate ride-alongs with 
officers and sit-alongs with dispatchers. In 2022, the Department worked on a 
Recruitment and Retention Incentive Program that was recently approved by City 
Council. The Department is currently working through the logistics and is excited about 
the potential the program provides for recruiting and retention. 

CITY AUDITOR REPORTS

There are currently three open audits involving BPD that were produced by Auditor 
Wong and her staff;
 

1. 911 Dispatchers: Understaffing Leads to Excessive Overtime and Low Morale
 

2. Data Analysis of Berkeley’s Police Response
 

3. Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime and Security Work 
for Outside Entities

 
 

Page 18 of 24

Page 22



  

19

The Department will be submitting audit updates to City Council in May 2023 regarding 
the three open audits. Working with the City Auditor’s Office in this process, we 
anticipate completion of the first two audits before May with all items having been 
addressed. The third audit is not complete but we have made significant progress on 
the recommendations listed in the report. This includes the implementation of a 
significant technology project related to an electronic staffing software. We are eager to 
continue working with Auditor Wong’s office to accomplish all of the recommendations 
in this budget related audit.

FAIR AND IMPARTIAL POLICING UPDATE

Implementing the FIP Task Force recommendations remains a priority of the Berkeley 
Police Department. The Professional Standards Division is responsible for managing 
the project of implementing the recommendations. This report provides a quarterly 
update on the implementation of the Task Force recommendations.

The FIP Task Force recommendations required the department to amend its policies 
and establish a number of new protocols. As part of the process, members of BPD 
engaged with the Mayor, Council and their representatives, the Police Review 
Commission (now the Police Accountability Board or PAB), FIP Task Force members, 
and the PAB Subcommittee on FIP recommendation implementation. During these 
meetings, BPD staff collaborated with and updated each group on the substance and 
progress of this important project.

The Berkeley Police Department remains committed to equitable and unbiased policing 
and we are proud to have implemented almost all of the FIP recommendations. A policy 
in the form of a special order has been released to ensure that current and future 
members of the Berkeley Police Department carry forward and build upon this important 
foundational work initiated by the Fair and Impartial Policing Task Force. Below are the 
updates since the last reporting period. Once the final recommendations of the referral 
are completed the Department will continue efforts related to fair and impartial policing 
and provide annual updates and progress in this report. 
 

 Recommendations related to: Implement Procedural Justice Reforms
 
Pursuant to the FIP recommendation and after meeting with the FIP task Force 
stakeholders, language was added to the current Early Warning System (EWS) policy to 
include data around traffic, bicycle, and pedestrian stops as a category that supervisors 
will consider for early intervention if merited. This new EWS policy has been 
implemented.
 
Ongoing efforts include implementing new systems for the monitoring of officer’s 
individual stop data by their respective supervisors. The Audits and Inspections 
Sergeant began conducting separate and random quarterly audits of officer’s stop data, 

Page 19 of 24

Page 23



  

20

complaints, uses of force incidents and other factors and report the findings to the Chief 
of Police. Results of these audits are provided to the Police Accountability Board.
 

 Recommendations related to: Conduct a Capacity Study of police calls and 
responses and use of officer time outside of case work. 

 
The City’s Auditor’s report was released which analyzed Computer Aided Dispatch data. 
Recommendations from this analysis were provided to the Police Department and 
findings were referred to the Reimagine Public Safety Task Force. BPD has 
implemented the recommendations and an assessment of overall staffing levels as well 
as patrol beat specific analysis will be conducted as part of the sworn staffing 
assessment described above. This assessment will study our organizational structure, 
resource allocation, and geographical patrol boundaries. 

Internally the Strategic Analysis Team has been directed to continue their work to refine 
the way and type of data that is collected, and analyze call response time to support the 
likely upcoming consultant work. 

DEPARTMENT INITIATIVES

The Berkeley Police Department mission is to safeguard our diverse community through 
proactive law enforcement and problem solving, treating all people with dignity and 
respect. As discussed, the BPD is experiencing significant staffing issues in several 
critical classifications but especially in sworn officers and dispatchers. We forecast that 
recruitment and retention will be key to weathering unprecedented staffing pressures. 
Department initiatives underway support and guide this mission despite our expected 
challenges. Some of these are listed below:

Sworn Staffing Study:

Both the Re-imagine Policing work and Auditor’s Audit on Police Overtime called for 
independent analysis of our workload, service demands, staffing levels, and allocation 
of resources. The Department opened a request for proposals from consultants that 
specialize in public safety staffing. All the bids received exceeded the current budget 
authority, which may affect the breadth of the analysis that we can complete. We are 
evaluating several proposals and will take the appropriate next steps to contract a 
consultant to advise on the long-term deployment of police services in Berkeley. We 
expect that work to inform decision-making as we rebound from a low point expected in 
the next year to 18 months. It should also help us to incorporate recommendations from 
the Re-Imagining Public Safety process. 

In the meantime, the department is making adjustments to cope with low staffing. This 
has included reducing staffing in special assignments, delaying work on longer term 

Page 20 of 24

Page 24



  

21

projects, and looking for additional ways to increase efficiencies. As the majority of the 
sworn personnel are deployed in our Operations Division as patrol officers, the 
department conducted analysis on call for service volume as it occurs throughout the 
day and week. Our existing 16 beat structure was deployed nearly a decade ago. At the 
time, it was balanced in terms of workload and service delivery. Over time, crime 
patterns and demands for services change. Further, our critically low staffing has made 
the 16-beat deployment difficult to staff requiring more forced overtime for our shrinking 
patrol resources. Our Strategic Analysis Team worked on a 14 beat map was able to 
create more efficiency and parity in service delivery and workload. The new structure 
should be more resilient to what we expect to be a very difficult year. The Patrol 
Operations division will transition to the new beat structure in April of 2023. The 14 beat 
project will also provide useful data for the sworn staffing study.

From Pilot to Best Practice: Recovery Officer

In response to multiple high-profile in-custody deaths, Berkeley Police Department 
officers have developed new ideas to improve their response to these challenging 
events. Central to these recommendations was a plan to reinforce the sanctity of life. In 
October of 2021, BPD identified a new role of Recovery Officer during certain in-
progress incidents. This role has three basic objectives: improve scene management on 
incidents where an involved party has undergone extreme exertion, evaluate medical 
needs sooner, and decrease BFD response time so any necessary treatment can occur 
more rapidly. De-escalation wherever possible remains the department’s goal. 
However, in those instances where de-escalation efforts fail, there will be a proactive 
plan to get the subject evaluation and care as soon as practical. 

The Recovery Officer Pilot Program was launched with great success. We are currently 
studying the deployment to continue to improve the transition from physical altercation 
to care. Initial analysis suggests Officers are calling BFD Paramedics to more scenes 
involving physical altercations and have positively impacted response times. We 
couldn’t have achieved the positive change without the support of the Berkeley Fire 
Department. The Strategic Analysis Team is partnering with use of force experts as well 
as Berkeley Fire Department to assess the practice, its impacts both qualitative (data, 
response times, outcomes) and quantitative (procedure, de-escalation, communication) 
to continue to develop and refine our practices around combative subjects. At the 
conclusion of the analysis, we will incorporate the practice into future trainings and 
formalize the approach in policy. 

Reinforcing Best Practices: Duty to Intercede

Page 21 of 24

Page 25



  

22

Berkeley PD has had a “Duty to Intercede” policy for over a decade. Use of Force Policy 
(BPD Policy 300.1 - Use of Force) requires; “Whenever possible, officers shall intervene 
when they know or have reason to know that another officer is about to use, or is using, 
unnecessary force. Officers shall promptly report any use of unnecessary force and the 
efforts made to intervene to a supervisor.” Since, George Floyd’s death, Duty to 
Intercede is a fundamental training element in our use of force training scenarios. 
Officers are trained and expected to take decisive action to prevent abuse and to 
protect the sanctity of life. One example in 2022 was an eight-hour training session for 
our staff that covered use of force decision-making. Several scenarios and debriefs 
specifically covered the duty to intercede.

Improved Training for Sergeants

In the past year, we have increased training for supervisors in Patrol Operations. We 
have had mandatory leadership meetings with all patrol supervisors twice a year. These 
meetings improve clarity on leadership and help emphasize how we are leading during 
an unprecedented period of change in our industry. We have also introduced 
Operations Leadership Work Groups, where leaders solve problems, strategize, and 
deploy solutions to challenges. The BPD established several internal work groups to 
include develop data analysis tools supporting evidence-based policing strategies, 
update and realign our patrol officer and supervisor annual performance evaluations, 
evaluate alternative schedule deployments to better cope with critically low staffing, and 
improve training, departmental practice, and leadership around the use of Body Worn 
Cameras.
 
Strategic Analysis Team and Problem-Solving Approaches: 
BPD has hired two analysts to further the goal of establishing a unit that focuses 
primarily on crime prevention, supporting investigative strategies, strengthening problem 
solving approaches and providing transparency to our community. 
 

Referred to as the Data Analysis team in previous reports, the Strategic Analysis Team 
(2 data analysts and 1 officer) launched the Berkeley Police Transparency Hub in 2022 
as part of an effort to enhance our communication with the community about our work. 
The Transparency Hub features the following data dashboards that the community can 
use to follow our work at their own leisure: Stop Data, Calls for Service, Use of Force 
and Crimes Data. The Transparency Hub contains a page for Community Engagement, 
so the community may follow the many events throughout the city in which BPD 
participates. Additionally, the Community Engagement page allows for community 
members to engage with BPD’s initiatives of Crime Prevention and Merchant 
Partnerships. A key tool utilized by BPD to support these initiatives is the multi-
disciplinary survey assessment, Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 

Page 22 of 24

Page 26



  

23

(CPTED). A CPTED survey can be requested online by any community member at any 
time. Finally, the Transparency Hub includes a page of Current Trends. This page 
contains specific data of interest to the community. Currently the page includes data 
related to the following topics: Gun Violence, Hate Crimes, Ghost Guns and Catalytic 
Converter Thefts. The Transparency Hub provides the transparency and accountability 
for BPD which the community demands.    
 

The Strategic Analysis Team also launched internal tools to assist officers’ 
understanding of the people, locations and behaviors that most negatively impact public 
safety. The tools are specific to areas and people, updated daily and accessible to all 
officers. Additional internal tools include problem specific data for the following topics: 
Retail Crime, Catalytic Converter Theft and Traffic. The purpose of these internal tools 
is to provide officers with information to more accurately indicate the proper intervention 
for the problem with which they are faced. This may mean enforcement or collaboration 
with other providers and/or city partners. 
 

The Strategic Analysis Team has provided BPD with the necessary tools to respond to 
people, locations and behaviors with the most appropriate, optimal and equitable 
interventions. The data and tools to provide the most appropriate, optimal and equitable 
interventions allows for a more positive BPD “footprint” within the community. As officers 
increase their work with these tools, we expect there to be increases in yield rates in the 
stop data, but an overall reduction in the total number of stops. Analysis of the 
effectiveness and impact of these efforts will be important and is ongoing. 

Upcoming work from the Strategic Analysis Team includes the addition of a Traffic Data 
page to the Transparency Hub. The page will provide quarterly counts of collisions of all 
types and analysis of primary collision factors, as well as highlight BPD’s ongoing work 
to reduce unsafe driving patterns.
  

The below screenshots are examples of what is found on the Transparency Hub for the 
community:

Page 23 of 24

Page 27



  

24

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

There are no identifiable environmental effects, climate impacts, or sustainability 
opportunities associated with the subject of this report.
 

CONTACT PERSON
Jennifer Louis, Interim Chief of Police, 981-5900

Page 24 of 24

Page 28



MARCH 

2023

Maternal Mortality Rates in the United States, 2021
by Donna L. Hoyert, Ph.D., Division of Vital Statistics 

This report presents maternal mortality rates for 2021 based on data from the National Vital 
Statistics System. A maternal death is defined by the World Health Organization as “the death 
of a woman while pregnant or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the 
duration and the site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy 
or its management, but not from accidental or incidental causes (1).” Maternal mortality rates, 
which are the number of maternal deaths per 100,000 live births, are shown in this report by age 
group and race and Hispanic origin.

This report updates a previous one that showed maternal mortality rates for 2018–2020 (2). In 
2021, 1,205 women died of maternal causes in the United States compared with 861 in 2020 and 
754 in 2019 (2). The maternal mortality rate for 2021 was 32.9 deaths per 100,000 live births, 
compared with a rate of 23.8 in 2020 and 20.1 in 2019 (Table). 

In 2021, the maternal mortality rate for non-Hispanic Black (subsequently, Black) women was 
69.9 deaths per 100,000 live births, 2.6 times the rate for non-Hispanic White (subsequently, 
White) women (26.6) (Figure 1 and Table). Rates for Black women were significantly higher 
than rates for White and Hispanic women. The increases from 2020 to 2021 for all race and 
Hispanic-origin groups were significant.

Rates increased with maternal age. Rates in 2021 were 20.4 deaths per 100,000 live births for 
women under age 25, 31.3 for those aged 25–39, and 138.5 for those aged 40 and over (Figure 2 
and Table). The rate for women aged 40 and over was 6.8 times higher than the rate for women 
under age 25. Differences in the rates between age groups were statistically significant. The 
increases in the rates between 2020 and 2021 for each of these age groups were statistically 
significant.

Data source and methods

Data are from the National Vital Statistics System mortality file (3). Consistent with previous 
reports, the number of maternal deaths does not include all deaths occurring to pregnant or 
recently pregnant women, but only deaths with the underlying cause of death assigned to 
International Statistical Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision code numbers A34,  
O00–O95, and O98–O99. Maternal mortality rates are per 100,000 live births, based on data 

NATIONAL CENTER FOR HEALTH STATISTICS

Health E-Stats

NCHS reports can be downloaded from:  
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/index.htm.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/index.htm


NCHS Health E-Stats March 2023

2 | Division of Vital Statistics

from the National Vital Statistics System natality file. Maternal mortality rates fluctuate from 
year to year because of the relatively small number of these events and possibly due to issues 
with the reporting of maternal deaths on death certificates (4). Efforts to improve data quality 
are ongoing, and these data will continue to be evaluated for possible errors. Data are shown for 
only the three largest race and Hispanic-origin groups for which statistically reliable rates can be 
calculated.

References
1. World Health Organization. International statistical classification of diseases and related 

health problems, 10th revision (ICD–10). 2008 ed. Geneva, Switzerland. 2009.

2. Hoyert DL. Maternal mortality rates in the United States, 2020. NCHS Health E -Stats. 2022. 
DOI: https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:113967.

3. Xu JQ, Murphy SL, Kochanek KD, Arias E. Mortality in the United States, 2021. NCHS 
Data Brief, no 456. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2022.  
DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:122516.

4. Hoyert DL, Miniño AM. Maternal mortality in the United States: Changes in coding, 
publication, and data release, 2018. National Vital Statistics Reports; vol 69 no 2. Hyattsville, 
MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2020.

Suggested citation

Hoyert DL. Maternal mortality rates in the United States, 2021. NCHS Health E-Stats. 2023.  
DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:124678.

https://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:124678


N
C

H
S

 H
ealth E

-S
tats 

M
arch 2023

3 | D
ivision of V

ital S
tatistics

Table. Number of live births, maternal deaths, and maternal mortality rates, by race and Hispanic origin and age: United States, 2018–2021

Race and Hispanic  
origin and age

2018 2019 2020 2021

Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1
Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1
Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1
Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1

Total2 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3,791,712 658 17�4 3,747,540 754 20�1 3,613,647 861 23�8 3,664,292 1,205 32�9
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 907,782 96 10�6 877,803 111 12�6 825,403 114 13�8 797,334 163 20�4
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,756,974 458 16�6 2,739,976 544 19�9 2,658,445 607 22�8 2,731,223 854 31�3
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 126,956 104 81�9 129,761 98 75�5 129,799 140 107�9 135,735 188 138�5

Non-Hispanic Black3 � � � � � � � 552,029 206 37�3 548,075 241 44�0 529,811 293 55�3 517,889 362 69�9
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 176,243 27 15�3 169,853 32 18�8 159,541 46 28�8 149,435 62 41�5
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 358,276 137 38�2 360,206 179 49�7 351,648 198 56�3 349,170 242 69�3
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 17,510 42 239�9 18,016 30 166�5 18,622 49 263�1 19,284 58 300�8

Non-Hispanic White3 � � � � � � � 1,956,413 291 14�9 1,915,912 343 17�9 1,843,432 352 19�1 1,887,656 503 26�6
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 391,829 41 10�5 374,129 49 13�1 348,666 40 11�5 336,792 57 16�9
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,504,888 207 13�8 1,480,595 248 16�8 1,433,839 253 17�6 1,486,249 364 24�5
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 59,696 43 72�0 61,188 46 75�2 60,927 59 96�8 64,615 82 126�9

Hispanic � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 886,210 105 11�8 886,467 112 12�6 866,713 158 18�2 885,916 248 28�0
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 275,553 21 7�6 270,948 23 8�5 258,635 20 7�7 255,806 36 14�1
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 579,553 72 12�4 584,109 71 12�2 576,690 111 19�2 597,703 184 30�8
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 31,104 12 * 31,410 18 * 31,388 27 86�0 32,407 28 86�4

* Rate does not meet National Center for Health Statistics standards of reliability�
1Maternal mortality rates are deaths per 100,000 live births�
2Includes deaths for race and Hispanic-origin groups not shown separately, including women of multiple races and origin not stated�
3Race groups are single race� 

NOTES: Maternal causes are those assigned to categories A34, O00–O95, and O98–O99 of the International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision� Maternal deaths occur while pregnant or within 42 days of being 
pregnant�

SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, Natality and Mortality�



NCHS Health E-Stats March 2023

4 | Division of Vital Statistics

20

40

60

80

0
HispanicTotal Non-Hispanic WhiteNon-Hispanic Black

37.3

44.0

14.9

155.3

117.9

126.6

19.1

11.8 12.6

128.0

118.217.4
120.1

132.9

123.8

169.9

1Statistically significant increase from previous year (p < 0.05).
NOTE: Race groups are single race.
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, Mortality.

D
ea

th
s 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
 li

ve
 b

irt
hs

Figure 1. Maternal mortality rates, by race and Hispanic origin: United States, 2018–2021

2021202020192018

Figure 1. Maternal mortality rates, by race and Hispanic origin: United States, 2018–2021



NCHS Health E-Stats March 2023

5 | Division of Vital Statistics CS338052

0

30

90

60

120

150

25–39 40 and overUnder 25

10.6 12.6

120.4
13.8 16.6

119.9

131.3
122.8

81.9
75.5

1138.5

1107.9

1Statistically significant increase from previous year (p < 0.05).
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, Mortality.

D
ea

th
s 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
 li

ve
 b

irt
hs

Figure 2. Maternal mortality rates, by age: United States, 2018–2021

2021202020192018

Figure 2. Maternal mortality rates, by age: United States, 2018–2021



MARCH 

2023

Maternal Mortality Rates in the United States, 2021
by Donna L. Hoyert, Ph.D., Division of Vital Statistics 

This report presents maternal mortality rates for 2021 based on data from the National Vital 
Statistics System. A maternal death is defined by the World Health Organization as “the death 
of a woman while pregnant or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the 
duration and the site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy 
or its management, but not from accidental or incidental causes (1).” Maternal mortality rates, 
which are the number of maternal deaths per 100,000 live births, are shown in this report by age 
group and race and Hispanic origin.

This report updates a previous one that showed maternal mortality rates for 2018–2020 (2). In 
2021, 1,205 women died of maternal causes in the United States compared with 861 in 2020 and 
754 in 2019 (2). The maternal mortality rate for 2021 was 32.9 deaths per 100,000 live births, 
compared with a rate of 23.8 in 2020 and 20.1 in 2019 (Table). 

In 2021, the maternal mortality rate for non-Hispanic Black (subsequently, Black) women was 
69.9 deaths per 100,000 live births, 2.6 times the rate for non-Hispanic White (subsequently, 
White) women (26.6) (Figure 1 and Table). Rates for Black women were significantly higher 
than rates for White and Hispanic women. The increases from 2020 to 2021 for all race and 
Hispanic-origin groups were significant.

Rates increased with maternal age. Rates in 2021 were 20.4 deaths per 100,000 live births for 
women under age 25, 31.3 for those aged 25–39, and 138.5 for those aged 40 and over (Figure 2 
and Table). The rate for women aged 40 and over was 6.8 times higher than the rate for women 
under age 25. Differences in the rates between age groups were statistically significant. The 
increases in the rates between 2020 and 2021 for each of these age groups were statistically 
significant.

Data source and methods

Data are from the National Vital Statistics System mortality file (3). Consistent with previous 
reports, the number of maternal deaths does not include all deaths occurring to pregnant or 
recently pregnant women, but only deaths with the underlying cause of death assigned to 
International Statistical Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision code numbers A34,  
O00–O95, and O98–O99. Maternal mortality rates are per 100,000 live births, based on data 

NATIONAL CENTER FOR HEALTH STATISTICS

Health E-Stats

NCHS reports can be downloaded from:  
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/index.htm.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/index.htm


NCHS Health E-Stats March 2023

2 | Division of Vital Statistics

from the National Vital Statistics System natality file. Maternal mortality rates fluctuate from 
year to year because of the relatively small number of these events and possibly due to issues 
with the reporting of maternal deaths on death certificates (4). Efforts to improve data quality 
are ongoing, and these data will continue to be evaluated for possible errors. Data are shown for 
only the three largest race and Hispanic-origin groups for which statistically reliable rates can be 
calculated.

References
1. World Health Organization. International statistical classification of diseases and related 

health problems, 10th revision (ICD–10). 2008 ed. Geneva, Switzerland. 2009.

2. Hoyert DL. Maternal mortality rates in the United States, 2020. NCHS Health E -Stats. 2022. 
DOI: https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:113967.

3. Xu JQ, Murphy SL, Kochanek KD, Arias E. Mortality in the United States, 2021. NCHS 
Data Brief, no 456. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2022.  
DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:122516.

4. Hoyert DL, Miniño AM. Maternal mortality in the United States: Changes in coding, 
publication, and data release, 2018. National Vital Statistics Reports; vol 69 no 2. Hyattsville, 
MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2020.

Suggested citation

Hoyert DL. Maternal mortality rates in the United States, 2021. NCHS Health E-Stats. 2023.  
DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:124678.

https://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:124678


N
C

H
S

 H
ealth E

-S
tats 

M
arch 2023

3 | D
ivision of V

ital S
tatistics

Table. Number of live births, maternal deaths, and maternal mortality rates, by race and Hispanic origin and age: United States, 2018–2021

Race and Hispanic  
origin and age

2018 2019 2020 2021

Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1
Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1
Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1
Number of 
live births

Number of 
deaths

Maternal 
mortality 

rate1

Total2 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3,791,712 658 17�4 3,747,540 754 20�1 3,613,647 861 23�8 3,664,292 1,205 32�9
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 907,782 96 10�6 877,803 111 12�6 825,403 114 13�8 797,334 163 20�4
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,756,974 458 16�6 2,739,976 544 19�9 2,658,445 607 22�8 2,731,223 854 31�3
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 126,956 104 81�9 129,761 98 75�5 129,799 140 107�9 135,735 188 138�5

Non-Hispanic Black3 � � � � � � � 552,029 206 37�3 548,075 241 44�0 529,811 293 55�3 517,889 362 69�9
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 176,243 27 15�3 169,853 32 18�8 159,541 46 28�8 149,435 62 41�5
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 358,276 137 38�2 360,206 179 49�7 351,648 198 56�3 349,170 242 69�3
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 17,510 42 239�9 18,016 30 166�5 18,622 49 263�1 19,284 58 300�8

Non-Hispanic White3 � � � � � � � 1,956,413 291 14�9 1,915,912 343 17�9 1,843,432 352 19�1 1,887,656 503 26�6
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 391,829 41 10�5 374,129 49 13�1 348,666 40 11�5 336,792 57 16�9
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,504,888 207 13�8 1,480,595 248 16�8 1,433,839 253 17�6 1,486,249 364 24�5
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 59,696 43 72�0 61,188 46 75�2 60,927 59 96�8 64,615 82 126�9

Hispanic � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 886,210 105 11�8 886,467 112 12�6 866,713 158 18�2 885,916 248 28�0
Under 25 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 275,553 21 7�6 270,948 23 8�5 258,635 20 7�7 255,806 36 14�1
25–39 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 579,553 72 12�4 584,109 71 12�2 576,690 111 19�2 597,703 184 30�8
40 and over  � � � � � � � � � � � � 31,104 12 * 31,410 18 * 31,388 27 86�0 32,407 28 86�4

* Rate does not meet National Center for Health Statistics standards of reliability�
1Maternal mortality rates are deaths per 100,000 live births�
2Includes deaths for race and Hispanic-origin groups not shown separately, including women of multiple races and origin not stated�
3Race groups are single race� 

NOTES: Maternal causes are those assigned to categories A34, O00–O95, and O98–O99 of the International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision� Maternal deaths occur while pregnant or within 42 days of being 
pregnant�

SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, Natality and Mortality�



NCHS Health E-Stats March 2023

4 | Division of Vital Statistics

20

40

60

80

0
HispanicTotal Non-Hispanic WhiteNon-Hispanic Black

37.3

44.0

14.9

155.3

117.9

126.6

19.1

11.8 12.6

128.0

118.217.4
120.1

132.9

123.8

169.9

1Statistically significant increase from previous year (p < 0.05).
NOTE: Race groups are single race.
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, Mortality.

D
ea

th
s 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
 li

ve
 b

irt
hs

Figure 1. Maternal mortality rates, by race and Hispanic origin: United States, 2018–2021

2021202020192018

Figure 1. Maternal mortality rates, by race and Hispanic origin: United States, 2018–2021



NCHS Health E-Stats March 2023

5 | Division of Vital Statistics CS338052

0

30

90

60

120

150

25–39 40 and overUnder 25

10.6 12.6

120.4
13.8 16.6

119.9

131.3
122.8

81.9
75.5

1138.5

1107.9

1Statistically significant increase from previous year (p < 0.05).
SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, Mortality.

D
ea

th
s 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
 li

ve
 b

irt
hs

Figure 2. Maternal mortality rates, by age: United States, 2018–2021

2021202020192018

Figure 2. Maternal mortality rates, by age: United States, 2018–2021



BMHW23 TOOLKIT LOCAL EVENTS BMH WALK GUIDE

BMHW23 NATIONAL CALL BMH X CLTR FEST BMHW23 PRESS RELEASE

We are thrilled to reveal the official  theme for Black Maternal Health Week 2023
(#BMHW23):  “Our Bodies Belong to Us: Restoring Black Autonomy and Joy!”  In
light of the steadily alarming rise of maternal mortality in the U.S., which recent data
shows has been exacerbated by the pandemic; and amidst growing cases of clear
neglect in care in hospital systems immediately after labor and delivery, BMMA
continues to highlight and center culturally-congruent practices with a focus on Black
Midwifery care and full-spectrum Black-led Doula care as sound, evidence-based
solutions. Most importantly, these are practices and solutions that incorporate the true
needs, wants and desires of Black women and birthing people.

Held annually on April 11-17th, BMHW is a week-long campaign founded and led by
the Black Mamas Matter Alliance  to build awareness, activism, and community-building 
to amplify  the voices, perspectives and lived experiences of Black Mamas and birthing
people. The week is intentionally held during National Minority Health Month and
begins on April 11th annually to join dozens of global organizations in marking this day
as International Day for Maternal Health and Rights – an opportunity to advocate

ABOUT USABOUT US  OUR WORKOUR WORK  BMHW23BMHW23  BMHC22BMHC22  SUMMITSUMMIT  CONNECTCONNECT

DONATEDONATE  

https://bit.ly/BMHW23SMToolkit
https://blackmamasmatter.org/bmhw22/2023-bmhw-local-events/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/black-maternal-health-walk/
https://youtu.be/lsDkoNfO7Mk
https://blackmamasmatter.org/bmh-x-cltr-festival/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Official-BMHW23-Press-Release-1.pdf
https://www.engenderhealth.org/article/taking-action-on-international-maternal-health-and-rights-day
https://blackmamasmatter.org/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/about/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/our-work/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/2023-black-maternal-health-week/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/bmhc22/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/the-southeast-regional-black-maternal-health-symposium/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/connect/
https://www.mightycause.com/organization/Black-Mamas-Matter-Alliance


for the elimination of maternal mortality globally. The activities and conversations
hosted throughout the week intentionally center the values and traditions of the
reproductive and birth justice movements.  

We are excited for a week filled with insightful dialogue, enlivening events, and strong
connections to advance the health and well-being of Black Mamas and Birthing People.

Check out what’s to come!

Tues. 4/11 Int’l Day of Maternal Health & Rights + Official BMHW23 Kick-off

Tweetchat

Wed. 4/12 BMH Policy – Virtual Rally

Thur. 4/13 Support the BMH Movement

Fri. 4/14 BMH Data + Innovation

Sat. 4/15 BMH Walk – Atlanta, GA

Sun. 4/16 BMH in Your Neighborhood

Mon. 4/17 An Ode to Black Mamas Joy

Subscribe to our newsletter for  news and  updates  on 2023 programming and how you
can participate ! 

SUBSCRIBE TO OUR NEWSLETTER

ABOUT USABOUT US  OUR WORKOUR WORK  BMHW23BMHW23  BMHC22BMHC22  SUMMITSUMMIT  CONNECTCONNECT

DONATEDONATE  

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_7tinyvvcSHaMYHatCUY3KA#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_U6pd9Fb9RPitrnnlTie1NQ#/registration
https://www.eventcreate.com/e/blackmaternalhealthwalk2023
https://blackmamasmatter.org/bmhw22/2023-bmhw-local-events/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/connect/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/about/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/our-work/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/2023-black-maternal-health-week/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/bmhc22/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/the-southeast-regional-black-maternal-health-symposium/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/connect/
https://www.mightycause.com/organization/Black-Mamas-Matter-Alliance


THANK YOU TO THE #BMHW23 SPONSORS

LAST UPDATED: APRIL 7, 2023

ABOUT USABOUT US  OUR WORKOUR WORK  BMHW23BMHW23  BMHC22BMHC22  SUMMITSUMMIT  CONNECTCONNECT

DONATEDONATE  

https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/KIONII_Dove_MasterLogo_VERTICAL_Off-Pack_AW_V1-02-1-1.jpg
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FirstResponse2020-3-1.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Pampers_LogoHeart_EBU.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Logo_MerckforMothers_RGB_TEALGREY.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/CHCF-logo.jpg
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/rwj-1.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/healthystart-ta.jpeg
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/NICHQ_Logo_Vertical_Color_042519_MJB.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Mahmee.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/BJE-Logo-FINAL-1.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/EMC-logo_Transparent.png
https://blackmamasmatter.org/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/about/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/our-work/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/2023-black-maternal-health-week/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/bmhc22/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/the-southeast-regional-black-maternal-health-symposium/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/connect/
https://www.mightycause.com/organization/Black-Mamas-Matter-Alliance


RECENT TWEETS

CONNECT DONATE

PO Box 571894 · Atlanta, Georgia 30357 · info@blackmamasmatter.org
Copyright © 2023 Black Mamas Matter Alliance · All Rights Reserved · Strive Terms of

Service · Website by Tomatillo Design

ABOUT USABOUT US  OUR WORKOUR WORK  BMHW23BMHW23  BMHC22BMHC22  SUMMITSUMMIT  CONNECTCONNECT

DONATEDONATE  

https://twitter.com/blkmamasmatter
https://www.instagram.com/blackmamasmatter/
https://www.facebook.com/BlackMamasMatter
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCIxU58F6rEW3lbZBh2Fw5hw
https://blackmamasmatter.org/connect/
https://www.mightycause.com/organization/Black-Mamas-Matter-Alliance
mailto:info@blackmamasmatter.org
https://blackmamasmatter.org/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/BMMA_STRIVE-SMS-TOS.pdf
http://www.tomatillodesign.com/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/about/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/our-work/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/2023-black-maternal-health-week/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/bmhc22/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/the-southeast-regional-black-maternal-health-symposium/
https://blackmamasmatter.org/connect/
https://www.mightycause.com/organization/Black-Mamas-Matter-Alliance


 ‘What’s Going on With Our Black Girls?’ 
Experts Warn of Rising Suicide Rates. 
Researchers have uncovered worrisome trends among Black youth. 

 
Credit...Getty Images 
 

By Christina Caron 
Published Sept. 10, 2021Updated Sept. 12, 2021 

For more than a decade, suicide rates have been increasing in Black children and 
adolescents, and a new study says the sharpest rise occurred among young girls. 

The study, published on Thursday in the Journal of the American Academy of Child and 
Adolescent Psychiatry, found that just over 1,800 Black children died by suicide between 
2003 and 2017, and while most of the deaths were among boys, especially those ages 15 
to 17, the gender gap is narrowing. The suicide rate of the girls increased an average of 
6.6 percent each year — more than twice the increase for boys, the study said. Nearly 40 
percent of the girls were 12 to 14 years old, indicating that this age group may need 
additional attention or different types of interventions. 



“That was just like, ‘Whoa’ — what’s going on with our Black girls?” said Arielle H. 
Sheftall, the lead author of the study. “It caught me a little off guard.” 

Mortality data shows that suicide rates of U.S. teenagers and young adults remain 
highest in boys, particularly whites, Native Americans and Alaskan Natives. But in 
recent years researchers have found that the suicide rate of Black youth is increasing. A 
study published in May, for example, found that the suicide rate of Black males ages 15 
to 24 years old rose by 47 percent between 2013 and 2019 — and by 59 percent for Black 
females of the same age — but it decreased in white youth. 

“I think in the past suicide — or suicidal behavior — was just thought of as a white 
thing,” said Dr. Sheftall, a principal investigator at the Center for Suicide Prevention and 
Research at the Abigail Wexner Research Institute at Nationwide Children’s Hospital in 
Columbus, Ohio. “And that’s not the case.” 

Tips	for	Parents	to	Help	Their	Struggling	Teens	

Card 1 of 6 
Are	you	concerned	for	your	teen?	If you worry that your teen might be experiencing 
depression or suicidal thoughts, there are a few things you can do to help. Dr. Christine 
Moutier, the chief medical officer of the American Foundation for Suicide Prevention, 
suggests these steps: 
Look	for	changes.	Notice shifts in sleeping and eating habits in your teen, as well as any 
issues he or she might be having at school, such as slipping grades. Watch for angry 
outbursts, mood swings and a loss of interest in activities they used to love. Stay attuned to 
their social media posts as well. 
Keep	the	lines	of	communication	open.	If you notice something unusual, start a 
conversation. But your child might not want to talk. In that case, offer him or her help in 
finding a trusted person to share their struggles with instead. 
Seek	out	professional	support.	A child who expresses suicidal thoughts may benefit from 
a mental health evaluation and treatment. You can start by speaking with your child’s 
pediatrician or a mental health professional. 
In	an	emergency:	If you have immediate concern for your child’s safety, do not leave him 
or her alone. Call a suicide prevention lifeline. Lock up any potentially lethal objects. 
Children who are actively trying to harm themselves should be taken to the closest 
emergency room. 
Resources	If you’re worried about someone in your life and don’t know how to help, these 
resources can offer guidance:1. The National Suicide Prevention Lifeline: Text or call 988 2. 
The Crisis Text Line: Text TALK to 741741 3. The American Foundation for Suicide 
Prevention 
 

Another study, also published this year, said that over the last two decades, the biggest 
increase in self-reported suicide attempts was among Black adolescents. And in 2018 
Dr. Sheftall and other researchers revealed that Black children under 13 are dying by 
suicide at nearly twice the rate of white children the same age. 



Why is this happening? There are no definitive answers. Dr. Sheftall and her colleagues 
pulled data from a state-based surveillance system to better understand the 
characteristics of those who died and factors that may have led to their deaths. 

They found that most of the Black children who died by suicide did not have a current 
mental health concern, but of those who did, the younger children were far more likely 
than the older kids to have been diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, 
or A.D.H.D. The younger kids were also more likely to have experienced problems in 
school or within their families. 

For the girls, a diagnosis of depression or anxiety was more common than for the boys. 
About 9 percent of the older girls experienced a relationship crisis before the suicide and 
nearly 20 percent had an argument within 24 hours of their death, suggesting that 
conflict resolution skills and coping mechanisms might be possible interventions for 
Black girls, the authors wrote. 

The most common methods of suicide among youth are hanging, strangulation and 
suffocation, which is reflected in this study as well, Dr. Sheftall said. Earlier 
examinations of suicide methodology have suggested that females are more likely to 
attempt suicide using less lethal means, but “that may not be the case anymore,” she 
added. 

A limitation of the study was that one of the data sets contained only 35 states and did 
not include information on potential risk factors like poverty, exposure to trauma, 
difficulties accessing mental health care, or L.G.B.T.Q. status and experiences with 
racism. 

“The experiences of the African American child are like none other in the United States,” 
said LaVome Robinson, a clinical psychologist and professor of psychology at DePaul 
University in Chicago who has studied suicidality in Black adolescents. “We live in a 
society that marginalizes us — more so probably than any other group — and has 
historically for years.” 

In the Black community, suicide as we typically define it remains rare, Dr. Robinson 
added, but the numbers may be higher than we think because of indirect suicide, she 
said, where adolescents deliberately put themselves in harm’s way. 

“The question you should ask is, ‘Why is it that their will to live was so weak, or not 
strong enough, to prohibit them from engaging in those very risky behaviors that could 
in fact be deadly?’” Dr. Robinson said. 

Certain protective factors, like positive messaging and a sense of pride about one’s racial 
and ethnic group, can reduce the effects of racism on mental health, said Kate Keenan,	a 
clinical psychologist at the University of Chicago whose research includes racial 
disparities in health. 



“If experiences with racism and discrimination are increasing at a faster rate than we are 
increasing protective factors, then that might be related to the reported increase in 
suicidality among Black youth,” she said. 

Suicide is rare in young children, but it remains the second leading cause of death 
among all adolescents. 

If	your	child	is	having	thoughts	of	suicide,	call	the	National	Suicide	Prevention	Lifeline:	1‐800‐
273‐8255	(TALK)	or	text	TALK	to	741741. 
How to Talk to a Child Who Is Struggling 

 
Christina Caron📍Reporting from New York 

 
Olivier Douliery/Agence France-Presse — Getty Images 

When a younger child seems to be struggling with depression or anxiety, it can be difficult to talk 

about it. 

Here are some ways to help kids open up about tough emotions → 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 



CDC data shows U.S. teen girls ‘in crisis’ with unprecedented rise in
suicidal behavior

 Feb 13, 2023 5:10 PM EDT

The pandemic took a harsh toll on U.S. teen girls’ mental health, with almost 60 percent reporting feelings of persistent sadness or hopelessness,

according to a government survey released Monday that bolsters earlier data.

Sexual violence, suicidal thoughts, suicidal behavior and other mental health woes affected many teens regardless of race or ethnicity, but girls and

LGBTQ youth fared the worst on most measures, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention report. More than 17,000 U.S. high

school students were surveyed in class in the fall of 2021.

In 30 years of collecting similar data, “we’ve never seen this kind of devastating, consistent findings,” said Kathleen Ethier, director of CDC’s

adolescent and school health division. “There’s no question young people are telling us they are in crisis. The data really call on us to act.”

The research found:

• Among girls, 30 percent said they seriously considered attempting suicide,

double the rate among boys and up almost 60 percent from a decade ago.

• Almost 20 percent of girls reported experiencing rape or other sexual violence in

the previous year, also an increase over previous years.

• Almost half of LGBTQ students said they had seriously considered a suicide

attempt.

• More than a quarter of American Indians and Alaska natives said they had

seriously considered a suicide attempt — higher than other races and

ethnicities.

• Feelings of persistent sadness and hopelessness affected more than one-third of

kids of all races and ethnicities and increased over previous years.

• Recent poor mental health was reported by half of LGBTQ kids and almost one-

third of American Indian and Alaska Native youth.

The results echo previous surveys and reports and many of the trends began before the pandemic. But isolation, online schooling and increased

reliance on social media during the pandemic made things worse for many kids, mental health experts say.

The results “reflect so many decades of neglect towards mental health, for kids in particular,” said Mitch Prinstein, the American Psychological

Association’s chief science officer. “Suicide has been the second- or third-leading cause of death for young people between 10 and 24 years for

Health

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/YRBS_Data-Summary-Trends_Report2023_508.pdf
https://www.pbs.org/newshour/show/a-brief-but-spectacular-take-on-cross-cultural-suicide-prevention-research
https://www.pbs.org/newshour/politics/republican-states-aim-to-restrict-transgender-health-care-in-first-bills-of-2023
https://www.pbs.org/newshour/health
https://www.pbs.org/newshour/


LGBTQ community works to bring acceptance

decades now,” and attempts are typically more common in girls, he said.

WATCH: Ken Burns film explores youth mental health

Prinstein noted that anxiety and depression tend to be more common in teen girls than boys, and pandemic isolation may have exacerbated that.

Comprehensive reform in how society manages mental health is needed, Prinstein said. In schools, kids should be taught ways to manage stress

and strife, just as they are taught about exercise for physical disease prevention, he said.

In low-income areas, where adverse childhood experiences were high before the pandemic, the crisis has been compounded by a shortage of school

staff and mental health professionals, experts say.

School districts around the country have used federal pandemic money to hire more mental health specialists, if they can find them, but say they

are stretched thin and that students who need expert care outside of school often can’t get it because therapists are overburdened and have long

waitlists.

AP writer Jocelyn Gecker contributed in San Francisco contributed to this report.

By — Lindsey Tanner, Associated Press

https://www.pbs.org/newshour/show/lgbtq-community-works-to-bring-acceptance-and-joy-amid-increasing-threats
https://www.pbs.org/newshour/show/ken-burns-film-explores-youth-mental-health
https://www.pbs.org/newshour/author/lindsey-tanner-associated-press


and joy amid increasing threats

 Dec 20Health

https://www.pbs.org/newshour/show/lgbtq-community-works-to-bring-acceptance-and-joy-amid-increasing-threats
https://www.pbs.org/newshour/health


       SpaceX Launch Scrubbed Debt Ceiling Bill Florida Abortion Ban Your Taxes CBS News Live Managing Your Money Essentials Shopping Newslette

U . S .  

Nearly a third of teen girls say they have seriously considered suicide, CDC
survey shows

B Y  A L E X A N D E R  T I N

F E B R U A R Y  1 3 ,  2 0 2 3  /  3 : 3 3  P M  /  C B S  N E W S

Login

Be the �rst to know
Get browser notifications for breaking news, live
events, and exclusive reporting.

Shop with Carfax
The best place to shop for a used car

Learn More

Sponsored by CARFAX

https://www.cbsnews.com/news/spacex-starship-rocket-super-heavy-test-flight-scrubbed/
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/kevin-mccarthy-debt-ceiling-bill-spending-cuts-biden-new-york-stock-exchange-speech/
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/florida-six-week-abortion-ban-signed-into-law-ron-desantis/
https://www.cbsnews.com/your-taxes/
https://www.cbsnews.com/streaming/
https://www.cbsnews.com/moneywatch/managing-your-money/
https://www.cbsnews.com/cbs-essentials/?ftag=CNM-00-10abb3f
https://www.cbsnews.com/newsletters/?ftag=CNM-00-10abb3f
https://www.cbsnews.com/us?ftag=CNM-16-10abg0d
https://www.cbsnews.com/user/login/?ifmsgr=true&page=/news/teen-girls-suicide-depression-mental-health-cdc-survey/
https://youradchoices.com/


2018 Toyota Camry Show Me Now

2018 Toyota Camry Show Me Now

2007 Toyota Camry Show Me Now

Around 1 in 3 high school girls in the U.S. have seriously considered attempting suicide, according to new results from a
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention survey from 2021, up from less than a �fth of teen girls in 2011. And more
than half of teen girls, 57%, reported feeling "persistently sad or hopeless" — a record high number.

By contrast, 14% of high school boys told the 2021 survey that they had seriously considered attempting suicide, up from
13% in 2011. 

The statistics are among several mental health trends in high schoolers that have worsened most among girls over the
past decade, according to data from the CDC's Youth Risk Behavior Survey published Monday. 

Overall, 22% of high schoolers said they have considered suicide. That is somewhat better than the 29% when the CDC
�rst began its biennial survey in the 1990s, but is an increase from the record low 13.8% tallied in 2009.

"While much attention has been given to the youth mental health crisis during the COVID�19 pandemic, YRBS data have
shown that many measures were moving in the wrong direction before the pandemic. These data show the mental
health crisis among young people continues," Kathleen Ethier, director of the CDC's Division of Adolescent and School
Health, told reporters Monday.

Be the �rst to know
Get browser notifications for breaking news, live
events, and exclusive reporting.

https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=s6p9_QELM9XhUovmf5nxbopD4FptujtYOTrHPzLVswbUZDNUHJ2sa31rGEVcnlK4Wpf7IJmmHbUeibd9bKrlwicjTkClNGg5MJF2gqoPLBycj2YHOJK3UJ1YF4C_VWT8bFZJG_4zPuRqKlSR0bIYM11lOUUujaE3xJgsoVFeAVjfdb1Y24TUL9GU8boKs7GEROcbTzoUBfGyGp7BLwV2pQhZUVvuN-ZGNJ7rkIlkvra7RhE7YQ409tT84M6B7JDreBHTUjwty9DA0nwdflTaWzoBUTk5uHSt3XxzDbJ2xsa3AOs4kblL2NXU5i9lb9fbl9It_tA6QDhRHVstvL3q4AXZC69uBUjs1h5I2V6EFjcK9sq2wJZcA-Wz1DPVVeRFCF2crSFHzYcyTMKS767UYqBaOOyjE8ya_8OMdtHWTTRbe9Tb1WEkNuynrcWCCGiUmCNMqzAPthhXsJetKXiHZML66IMN5BK_gdVIRZ9G_fK2GPOh&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2F%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=nAHByAELM9XhUovmf5nxbopD4FptujtYOTrHPzLVswbUZDNUHJ2sa31rGEVcnlK4Wpf7IJmmHbUeibd9bKrlwicjTkClNGg5MJF2gqoPLBycj2YHOJK3UJ1YF4C_VWT8bFZJG_4zPuRqKlSR0bIYM11lOUVXguoPNCTue5HoWBAMKj8B98lcZ-QJp5J8ZPQx7lgseNj-wRk1c3KJCXt18bb-mlUPuEv5Wx_KB_HBVmxaT62NMI-OLMe2B8gpH5hKtfFRmxKWyq95RgC7SKDEo6QG57jb1klkEwTUz3K229It7Ldn7mVqQdgccDfYXCixME8AbIO1f2EFiCEAtRCGQc7Zg_rai-NY-9_RswkP_XOb51PHZOuuu1KnSO6w67aqpo-JRj5Yq0Lh5ZaGFJpKbEEZWaz_gYQKa6pdQipf1tCDDip1JbWm1vSjy0wN_YTI1nohTlGjZj5tIr4G_nEqdMZOux0ljDUOIZEdJX_jJHeHunS5Kqa-3Nmd7wmV_EN1Jx-OwA&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1B11HK9JU516607%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=z1B4SgELM9XhUovmf5nxbopD4FptujtYOTrHPzLVswbUZDNUHJ2sa31rGEVcnlK4Wpf7IJmmHbUeibd9bKrlwicjTkClNGg5MJF2gqoPLBycj2YHOJK3UJ1YF4C_VWT8bFZJG_4zPuRqKlSR0bIYM11lOUWOplnShWu0qnbqfZDfJh_a4XxFGs84zpNzgErllD5wzK6JN9ziGh_iEneaZBo9X2ZF9-e8WWJ_jLFFOJslkrcVszTPdxeFGyHxBIXmfXaNbTpaCnwGa1GJg0u8rItteJaxb0n-u-r6eId6viTu0wePbZtpoDb1HqhndQ-hmPpMgpHhM1qYvf4TcAPvMZrKGM7JsUrvNsmdyc8zIy_pHPYM6uW566iL8xwHYYve0qRMDgUxZ8vQ_j__kVxvHJdoHHi3pWhKB0jf0RUQTETUMu0u-6FOlXOP3s7ZBtU5BvHwZan8Yw1EBSKKvVbPJ9h3uUd1KE-xQCU2wzD10AAvH6NTJFt2_LurKNnj46-xug3dGA&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1B11HK4JU565326%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=JxhyVQELM9XhUovmf5nxbopD4FptujtYOTrHPzLVswbUZDNUHJ2sa31rGEVcnlK4Wpf7IJmmHbUeibd9bKrlwicjTkClNGg5MJF2gqoPLBycj2YHOJK3UJ1YF4C_VWT8bFZJG_4zPuRqKlSR0bIYM11lOUWcOdAVDRZ1o5fiX7j4y4F0ZGFOQ4uc5f5Y3K2DrdvUZwQhw5x5DrUoMFsd0aGspBjG6cnXm3wHO_yDtgOIHRZqSchMC1mynIQCCU_aQNRd65dKgJ9Dt5ssX6HJDqWpCPVwXcbj7pzF6IR52h4DZe4v5_wgn9UJbcK07N5cEeQQ4OWqQvyMkaJE0gtQiM0H41PXMtDJp3Qe3yLSkdFR224sU4-mh8HVRplwO0bF1WGRgUrPJC_uMV6ZauR_qpAC_PkgLSPNRpVkxWPQVkjxtWljZpxZ3uYov8ua0STOlb8oleUmnY8JwyX9B9wRhbyaWxkocVeICzCyCFNG6ICzfrwSPIHMPN8z3EFdoD_kifpIBQ&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1BK46K97U538178%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://privacy.us.criteo.com/adchoices?cppv=3&cpp=CsgDW9guAAJp2hvGm9Btqg4vtc_dhPhu5XUEMhPu-LhHNFPrj0V-8cIbc7HPgAuHtrBg_xIo0Jp-TwRb8zFY4XpOLZY1HmFE8p7puw38l2B5PrQXLLv4CuHTJW8zItfwHF0etYHF-kOjh248BmlsIYQm9iw
https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/YRBS_Data-Summary-Trends_Report2023_508.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/index.htm
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/suicide-mental-health-girls-pandemic/
https://www.cbsnews.com/feature/coronavirus/
https://youradchoices.com/


The CDC says gaps persist between boys and girls among several trends.

In the survey, 17% of teen girls say they were bullied at school, compared to 13% of boys; 20% of girls say they were
bullied over social media, nearly double the 11% of boys. And 18% of girls say they have faced sexual violence over the
past year, versus 5% of boys.

When asked about substance abuse, girls had often ranked better or around the same compared to boys over the past
decade.

But as of 2021, teen girls are now more likely than boys to have drunk alcohol (27% of high school girls compared to 19%
of high school boys), used marijuana (18% of girls versus 14% of boys), used e-cigarettes (21% of girls versus 15% of boys),
or misused prescription opioids (15% of girls versus 10% of boys). 

2018 Toyota Camry 2018 Toyota Camry 2016 Toyota Camry 2007 Toyota Camry

2022 Toyota Camry 2012 Toyota Tacoma 2003 Toyota Camry 2022 Toyota Camry

"These data show a distressing picture. America's teen girls are engulfed in a growing wave of sadness, violence and
trauma. Over the past decade, teens, especially girls, have experienced dramatic increases in experiences of violence
and poor mental health," the CDC's chief medical o�cer Dr. Debra Houry said.

The survey also found disparities among students who identify as  lesbian, gay, bisexual, questioning or another non-
heterosexual identity. 

Become a legend
by hero-wars.com

Try Now

1:171:17

4

Be the �rst to know
Get browser notifications for breaking news, live
events, and exclusive reporting.

https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=hTFHRLZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgDWl3rc2dTGSheLgb4D_5ZgWTV1i5t5M9m5u_d3DRbZuEfsOFskZAHOYS4MqI_zvKvyv7gehseefVukQxEeTWvDQEw3R03FL-8rqJjkgmH3nzaD6NnI_JXdOzbJDtD1QDQEybkpJuVr9B7ApltcnkUrM7udxcUN1-c05uTE5vTy-KtOpngClRFnK7UoqQx2xGCeRMEgz2PthKaMcGf3PIP5WB60Gb7lqJdsW2IshmecNVpW1Eyzf85bhDCXaevzF9-JFIXE_Op3bQzR5-WeBs9Sxeo83O7ZTOQS6Rexeds1umSm4vH5Myu8eKp_g7_UmacV2cls8p2t2SfmExiYaF9d&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2F%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=hfi6drZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgDgUNTweW1dpiMQOGgk0ua919Re_xNlaCryG59iCez1tMMsBpGracCjZEHYhoDzoCNWYsFep9kCP9Ui-yC7wQKtUOVhzp7X-0YyT2HvCRF6ENjXADrbucALWvGJRHeaq8uHocts8scOJXt9_NW7KeDmRpBK4DVKQixNoVCUnozvW6pvf9c1LuEhRYuc0DEbRaKLCqlBssTVDl5eF6AoRnud1xvjojFakXpHHTbdNfo9U-sUz-cIGWwMOez2e0bpPlIKkkGBjMbJec73ccRtUDcj0WeNEGliWGZQGEOCndja2T1G12WQAck4Zj3YQOTGWpvCqqU6FzJ10mxSHc4L5k-JDIHn-TeB_MYjzGYkmZsxWw&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1B11HK4JU565326%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=JvX2yrZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgDsD3FEQual6YmtP0sWcNrHv2eEf4BVYjiEqXA2tZ6oCX0mYp9Jzy8WC4F24YzF518vglHl-W9_DmSljyXUKSaIsdTD8LTwzDGcNIWri3EEVZw0OfHbt-PxyrP8OffaxlmPE6WbIuLY2vahT2ywcwXiqCTTkKcDBs1zEX_d7PIGB8ZZ1Mt0u9dkaUUvgXV3LEuCHFWpuSXyfguF-M9fmwDyeZfaMywtlQMGwlXX7P3GQJzvFgeP0fmvtrSnx4jiIAiUSANahNjuojLwK8znuo1xJspjNHvt6oc7JcVTfC32yk5HcvhDG8SbTtu41t8AfvSMWee-pBN8VDA9OnCNTvu_YLi6waakR_ecQoPKImMQVw&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1B11HK9JU516607%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=Oz1p9bZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgAK-NZll1KYGobT6QbzN2NdroCShO_Su4tiH444mRM0O_5kjUitasOHt7SlUpsXHG7zlhHIyxaVeEYAl5t3gQ5owx2HjqiHrFQMOgmjugCga5zJBHrxihYTLZK5NmKQ7495LTfXMHyDsmTFUzRXJthPP5l_Zoqbqz_kzLgM8VV4XXvB16mFs_y4eLs0hJ-xmqgCk6c-DCodIoh7nMkEYwsfyJV94vGUHa4uahj-iyrxEokss91BHA_kwh1lfM9gHqJ-dxCDBOwoq9UEXwBGPEnt2z4sQazpBE211r3b1TZMnC8Cgr-IP_i-F7N8058n96zRpYIXsnseW7PqS-84zghaEbnGHa7dpNg6FZugCVqDUw&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1BF1FK6GU235958%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=ilEE1LZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgAtYNH_YYsp7luf0noNI480v7hVnh2GtdmLLz_UC0HpZufQoq0hEEN4yaHiJvWgau06XMe7CoBav8aouhugxl6M-0BXFkpnPzBmLm6htYFVwUWhSo5kkvYVe56ZISNMGYZkAxNY2FEricGlubN8nrAtoIAuYGLWjcFvtDMwDeARK-aXUJ9Ni3RJjYZhNlqOPib6fGfFkpOOBY_gv0MMen_WofjVD5JpN8u8Abp-aPMkgc93XCV_TC_zZ8tPer4XcKAdWWq97e3L-JDBdt7k1G1p5s4l3sdAEyd5JgntwXRtc2r3Fhs7nmWTcXJlcxPbb771Ybtw3vPPO4utesye-BHGWwTohnp879KQDpZBDFb8fA&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1BK46K97U538178%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=Z0qlnrZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgBvIw4HSrX6_Z7Je1j-ULTLJ88k5299X-elXk5VIblNphAznpmFYFUc1u0BxeEXZHFo40jseoH1oaCobAN6gmj-rJERuO81Frr08R5JwQA2w4DgXYVFLNw01EtwwqqXhgL0F7CzI9UX3_Wcf9TfMQzyq-Va669uLmCVLKG9achwGOgxeb7jC5lhsWUtuRndFwxXQ9y80bifXi3GLUZxd25xXY1XHZPdc0-6lfrF82LdAU7ujMkPfrtQSSocNbFyMeWbSi8-7MCCiTMlSSTfntd6alQbvgmtNe-AJHB-UTRzgqz4RjUl86kTrXvoGjmXhutk0mF_gKgYunTtqH4jc19LyVzb1eSGuVR33_aKgDo3Kw&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fgo%2FinventoryAction.cfx%3Fn%3DHkXK8qkbCjsPEBr4qzd70xdWOCCx5tqRhIpq9aInwyU%26partner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=Tdeh4rZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgDgUNTweW1dpiMQOGgk0ua9M6xn4mbWlmXaoD15ufcj__rAWXTfAVgE81v-__zaBULubRnJDRXawjptU2G-LEdhHDGTVL4vD5ZF6-oHm5stIIJQKp9Wszu9epYuWvQUC4lwhPimVativxfYm6laW7AVZqXoXnTJxKvjp6DZBjptT2g8fc3IEoplQH1MB3Fyl47Ff333RkcViKKYLWQv3e4Zbgj7uN5LUrTTzU-bBRduUc_wYwFBvE5G9UNeENWW7wBhjgoYSrtdnnuTjKkJ_KLlPfA4CXMv5SqFek2W3Xk2aCoIcop3wJJLJLW18Q9JqLa7D04pwP6Htc4U3d3usm91NS_JB0Z9GmheffUBDYstlA&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F5TFTU4GN2CX023950%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=1YyqVrZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgBNDEMRQwjV_ajD9l2Y_eaWJf-SetWEpCMDgGAlUVfKEQBmsne7dLPAtleE3ruA3IMBJ1eaY66Vja_SgFTLlToLu0hOyGkUru5DyIUtR4R8BxBKvHiiyYV3YKygBvEl85f1cSRLX-3K5oWrBcIF3PnZNnlVr8sZu9TkFoHayJIckqrzyBRCQsky8b692iXmje6qkMmCQ8eOlE4iuvIiCB1ERxMBQqmSgX0cl68H2y5hFJBz7x2egrQqhmG6ORPa2juzhAvdYJfiPFcNYIHnx68q-K0aB3hKQZdUWi5ko7zB7suWcb3VSrutMn8lL7F-iA0MfpAAh6QiyLydOTdeACpuUXA_MTjxIa2tPeCaP07Orw&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1BE32K53U125692%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://cat.da.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=6Vt_abZ_U6nPTjD1o5088qKpwBLgatsdu2YB7TJNtZXOhxWwt4eKm8IXZ8cBxHRv2gEVbG5VdEgeHNDcHl6hMDbyx90Awx5WxZdJa9u2ewvbb4SV3OZotCacElwDkjo8fhRB82SYNs5fQiRTjN8Lfc8_IgCVIdNIHBRf7AsjNLFTJGwcKZmy_LfsUL5ADtIb6ORCDrbMhmMr1SedziD3cdC0sVBACJHeBPSH3EyaOEZb-FAsxNX8wQVMcS_wyCa8ue7yNEgqlImDhaCn1i1H4UdQm6aTE4qBBImklayhDMf1FjMjmxO0VbsXBnHGaC497cV0J1D9sfFgcylmAguxeyUUllll3t8uSNK0zZWGhkwTGN5UdS_iZy3rKLiMK3qcRdLiSUDm73E79Dum6fulcuje2dYBNjoOiFvotTwtoG36gVH6j9aDrXriU18ywJoMujCWGnz3o49tnXMoC1nM03ffJllV7HV6jxQw5adtv3G_4o8KVIRETOdik2WChkLrRHQGkg&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carfax.com%2Fvehicle%2F4T1T11AK5NU048265%3Fpartner%3DCTO_A%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3DVer4_consumer
https://privacy.us.criteo.com/adchoices?cppv=3&cpp=1EnpR3aaXowE3WkJ5rERQgIRpAUrwV5m8FibQd0Zs4bmdwDuNe9rTER208e6mWj9-Q5tkV5xmZFQ1jp5PmJsL4sbn-ydgdizMeGZ9XcHJ-5jb5KFP14UjDGfjX19NdK3av6xZ4zJ5BGY9-XgsjpmnCl00Kk
https://youradchoices.com/


"Close to 70% of LGBQ+ students experienced persistent feelings of sadness or hopelessness during the past year and
more than 50% had poor mental health during the past 30 days. Almost 25% attempted suicide during the past year,"
the report states. It also notes they are "signi�cantly more likely" than other peers to experience violence.

While many of the trends have substantially worsened over the past decade, the report's authors do point out that a
handful of indicators are now moving "in the right direction."

The share of high school students who say they are sexually active or have already had more than four partners has
fallen. Just 6% overall have had four or more partners in 2021, down from 15% in 2011.

Several overall rates of substance use have also declined since 2011 among high schoolers.

Just 23% of high schoolers overall had drunk alcohol in the 2021 survey, compared to 39% in 2011; 16% had used
marijuana, down from 23%; and 13% had ever used illicit drugs like cocaine or heroin, compared to 19%.

$22,999 $13,999 $10,999 $19,888$22,999 $13,999 $10,999 $19,888

More results from the CDC's school-based survey are expected to be released in April, which also spans other issues like
diet and exercise. A total of 17,508 questionnaires were completed across 152 private and public schools around the
country.

The agency said the �ndings underscore a need for more investment in strategies schools can employ to intervene in
worsening mental health trends.

"Schools are on the frontlines of the mental health crisis, and they must be equipped with the proven tools that help
students thrive," Houry said.

If you or someone you know is in emotional distress or a suicidal crisis, you can reach the 988 Suicide & Crisis
Lifeline by calling or texting 988. You can also chat with the 988 Suicide & Crisis Lifeline here.

For more information about mental health care resources and support, The National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI)
HelpLine can be reached Monday through Friday, 10 a.m.–10 p.m. ET, at 1�800�950�NAMI (6264) or email
info@nami.org.

Trending News
Black teen shot after going to wrong house to pick up his younger brothers

Be the �rst to know
Get browser notifications for breaking news, live
events, and exclusive reporting.

https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=L&ai=CqN2GXsc9ZM2nF5me4_UPuLesONDyx8VtoLDB168PwI23ARABIABgyeaBh4CAoBmCARdjYS1wdWItMTk5MTY3OTYyNDMzMTM2OcgBCeACAKgDAaoEvwJP0Cp06SLBA4eZx8ooj9HQi9ZpY6GNODXLFc0cFosskYx2tnxB187n6XrC16ubFhUAsByLaxl-yIRRjBzwSC7SfVb5AgtV3ZKS5pT459us-yd03YyBFKEdXDSW685MJ_LCfmYg8vW97TTTaQ9oTQW7CcQE6fT4akNzdQb0Q-ZvrEl0TpqHKlnPe1vv18x0Vi8RkaH98cob5tMkwOG9USeEpBXK8gk7gG8Cr0RWLBClD28GZifg0gokbhoXxT_T0Xkjz-0R2wEssDeYwFnITt2lTGzRGFPqJ2JvyGu3sUnYPYwoR4v7UCCHZEmjKOMBElFcfSUZ_iHDkkWqQzlA0DsCZcZQbBR6GqB6hh4lEQSVWJ6qyOEtXk6fWz2KkOL8GFk4OGtBNHiKlqrI36BdLcje3x4lu012Vwfw31Rxcszl4AQBgAa-h9Gh_ZannP0BoAYhiAcBkAcCqAemvhuoB5bYG6gHqpuxAqgHg62xAqgH_56xAqgH35-xAtgHANIIDxACMgEAOgifwICAgIAEEPoLAggBgAwB0BUBgBcB&num=1&cid=CAQSUwBygQiDfIPsOTRkjL0LaWKXYEkonZWZkPDK2T8y9au9rh0jNsQisxrbqQ7HcyMkvuUMoyof9_-e8DDRLzvCEmgeA0nO_LJZ8owBKZUJ9iJYRghAGAEgCA&sig=AOD64_2FCurmKH7uQLOjzyqqOvXXOVH-kA&client=ca-pub-1991679624331369&adurl=https%3A%2F%2Fus.creativecdn.com%2Fclicks%3Fid%3D20230417_mTyBgzpg4LS2VVMCgQQx%26tk%3DxNLBXq4Nj04h_ev55g-wk5gKQnz22FBFHjvrgUQsTG83LP1JIKOotgRjRqDywzuXq0zW3GuiyuVAbAhS-vH5fbS_ANHmyiUZUkkenn083vIAvlD0lHq3nxqDgD8Ha9m2rnPmSUTJHTyJfeQoEHo8pMGrsev_YaPOBYTcKYBKqSSDIuiA2RZ1m8G3uYTAFE_H4sj6jIe2vJqS1xl7rdtzl1PpD_x9Qx3IajZbfL-OddrvuR7Y2NiMbQ1nRjg4aNc0tCV-QuhYQG2O7Q_Oq8mbcm7frN325TjcBdKzOucul_T-KOcT6sGW2-nov9KYNAZfqjwfnQ1QiTJt4uUQOcVtJR4sN4VvydZRXK3qwO6Z1Pb-zmrmwCoWm6OMtOKaGdgblbUMQXq6M9e3-j6CsoI1H32-NeI6lm5Z8VTQ3uN3mTL1AFSgC9qGwbdU8Nu-SwDQI1Sz7iXXDO4QILtcIfGD8UqSoiXDy7vUtI0dH8EV0ntu2efRGlrFkHIZxReH6ZQvxQVFcmPPRF-Xo9aQN175HYNR0GPws7Dq8Mr_LLo9Ku8
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=L&ai=CqN2GXsc9ZM2nF5me4_UPuLesONDyx8VtoLDB168PwI23ARABIABgyeaBh4CAoBmCARdjYS1wdWItMTk5MTY3OTYyNDMzMTM2OcgBCeACAKgDAaoEvwJP0Cp06SLBA4eZx8ooj9HQi9ZpY6GNODXLFc0cFosskYx2tnxB187n6XrC16ubFhUAsByLaxl-yIRRjBzwSC7SfVb5AgtV3ZKS5pT459us-yd03YyBFKEdXDSW685MJ_LCfmYg8vW97TTTaQ9oTQW7CcQE6fT4akNzdQb0Q-ZvrEl0TpqHKlnPe1vv18x0Vi8RkaH98cob5tMkwOG9USeEpBXK8gk7gG8Cr0RWLBClD28GZifg0gokbhoXxT_T0Xkjz-0R2wEssDeYwFnITt2lTGzRGFPqJ2JvyGu3sUnYPYwoR4v7UCCHZEmjKOMBElFcfSUZ_iHDkkWqQzlA0DsCZcZQbBR6GqB6hh4lEQSVWJ6qyOEtXk6fWz2KkOL8GFk4OGtBNHiKlqrI36BdLcje3x4lu012Vwfw31Rxcszl4AQBgAa-h9Gh_ZannP0BoAYhiAcBkAcCqAemvhuoB5bYG6gHqpuxAqgHg62xAqgH_56xAqgH35-xAtgHANIIDxACMgEAOgifwICAgIAEEPoLAggBgAwB0BUBgBcB&num=1&cid=CAQSUwBygQiDfIPsOTRkjL0LaWKXYEkonZWZkPDK2T8y9au9rh0jNsQisxrbqQ7HcyMkvuUMoyof9_-e8DDRLzvCEmgeA0nO_LJZ8owBKZUJ9iJYRghAGAEgCA&sig=AOD64_2FCurmKH7uQLOjzyqqOvXXOVH-kA&client=ca-pub-1991679624331369&adurl=https%3A%2F%2Fus.creativecdn.com%2Fclicks%3Fid%3D20230417_mTyBgzpg4LS2VVMCgQQx%26tk%3Dh8VxdtEkZlSI88R9HJfZKLsBnOGfrph99W31QKyUInwXyJeg4QuFL_a4ggh6SW6O0-7qfGeTIiq8phU0UooCBFJ97whA5sTEJUmzF_q0ugVccTzyUbJMXVaKOdmzm4tPIDYFF4L0vaWg58cDsF1rBVlBo8R_KL8pdh0P3xBBCGzTtQkHmWUUOaOYkHj_Xxo1tQJhjVfeZyZ_8Jc1TNRY4ordJ9K9bljhq2bAuHYqHCAWNdRxM0SLNyrRjzct-tSQSHUygdWXXb4pA0BLK5oikLNwPA75EuNbzU3KTU5vA5F4E2Wh1VHZ_nwJusgC8vIMAhG_L4Gu8eHxCM2V77IvaVAPVgkUusFRHrZTazfvxW2_6LgK4SuXAkJoq3fppFgDw6H3OfBu4JoYLEhQhlzU1CcNgRwcjw23WzXCVLXdUeF7gD5HgHH0RjSaYhqbTHyM8q0YwoupzQWf_2_DCZs124CKLW3febusTNdfFxSl7eykeprgVdrao76ae3hnyGWodGwWFK19H09pGipsJhFknQ
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=L&ai=CqN2GXsc9ZM2nF5me4_UPuLesONDyx8VtoLDB168PwI23ARABIABgyeaBh4CAoBmCARdjYS1wdWItMTk5MTY3OTYyNDMzMTM2OcgBCeACAKgDAaoEvwJP0Cp06SLBA4eZx8ooj9HQi9ZpY6GNODXLFc0cFosskYx2tnxB187n6XrC16ubFhUAsByLaxl-yIRRjBzwSC7SfVb5AgtV3ZKS5pT459us-yd03YyBFKEdXDSW685MJ_LCfmYg8vW97TTTaQ9oTQW7CcQE6fT4akNzdQb0Q-ZvrEl0TpqHKlnPe1vv18x0Vi8RkaH98cob5tMkwOG9USeEpBXK8gk7gG8Cr0RWLBClD28GZifg0gokbhoXxT_T0Xkjz-0R2wEssDeYwFnITt2lTGzRGFPqJ2JvyGu3sUnYPYwoR4v7UCCHZEmjKOMBElFcfSUZ_iHDkkWqQzlA0DsCZcZQbBR6GqB6hh4lEQSVWJ6qyOEtXk6fWz2KkOL8GFk4OGtBNHiKlqrI36BdLcje3x4lu012Vwfw31Rxcszl4AQBgAa-h9Gh_ZannP0BoAYhiAcBkAcCqAemvhuoB5bYG6gHqpuxAqgHg62xAqgH_56xAqgH35-xAtgHANIIDxACMgEAOgifwICAgIAEEPoLAggBgAwB0BUBgBcB&num=1&cid=CAQSUwBygQiDfIPsOTRkjL0LaWKXYEkonZWZkPDK2T8y9au9rh0jNsQisxrbqQ7HcyMkvuUMoyof9_-e8DDRLzvCEmgeA0nO_LJZ8owBKZUJ9iJYRghAGAEgCA&sig=AOD64_2FCurmKH7uQLOjzyqqOvXXOVH-kA&client=ca-pub-1991679624331369&adurl=https%3A%2F%2Fus.creativecdn.com%2Fclicks%3Fid%3D20230417_mTyBgzpg4LS2VVMCgQQx%26tk%3Dh8VxdtEkZlSI88R9HJfZKLsBnOGfrph99W31QKyUInwXyJeg4QuFL_a4ggh6SW6O0-7qfGeTIiq8phU0UooCBFJ97whA5sTEJUmzF_q0ugVccTzyUbJMXVaKOdmzm4tPIDYFF4L0vaWg58cDsF1rBVlBo8R_KL8pdh0P3xBBCGzTtQkHmWUUOaOYkHj_Xxo1tQJhjVfeZyZ_8Jc1TNRY4ordJ9K9bljhq2bAuHYqHCAWNdRxM0SLNyrRjzct-tSQSHUygdWXXb4pA0BLK5oikLNwPA75EuNbzU3KTU5vA5F4E2Wh1VHZ_nwJusgC8vIMAhG_L4Gu8eHxCM2V77IvaVAPVgkUusFRHrZTazfvxW2_6LgK4SuXAkJoq3fppFgDw6H3OfBu4JoYLEhQhlzU1CcNgRwcjw23WzXCVLXdUeF7gD5HgHH0RjSaYhqbTHyM8q0YwoupzQWf_2_DCZs124CKLW3febusTNdfFxSl7eykeprgVdrao76ae3hnyGWodGwWFK19H09pGipsJhFknQ
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=L&ai=CqN2GXsc9ZM2nF5me4_UPuLesONDyx8VtoLDB168PwI23ARABIABgyeaBh4CAoBmCARdjYS1wdWItMTk5MTY3OTYyNDMzMTM2OcgBCeACAKgDAaoEvwJP0Cp06SLBA4eZx8ooj9HQi9ZpY6GNODXLFc0cFosskYx2tnxB187n6XrC16ubFhUAsByLaxl-yIRRjBzwSC7SfVb5AgtV3ZKS5pT459us-yd03YyBFKEdXDSW685MJ_LCfmYg8vW97TTTaQ9oTQW7CcQE6fT4akNzdQb0Q-ZvrEl0TpqHKlnPe1vv18x0Vi8RkaH98cob5tMkwOG9USeEpBXK8gk7gG8Cr0RWLBClD28GZifg0gokbhoXxT_T0Xkjz-0R2wEssDeYwFnITt2lTGzRGFPqJ2JvyGu3sUnYPYwoR4v7UCCHZEmjKOMBElFcfSUZ_iHDkkWqQzlA0DsCZcZQbBR6GqB6hh4lEQSVWJ6qyOEtXk6fWz2KkOL8GFk4OGtBNHiKlqrI36BdLcje3x4lu012Vwfw31Rxcszl4AQBgAa-h9Gh_ZannP0BoAYhiAcBkAcCqAemvhuoB5bYG6gHqpuxAqgHg62xAqgH_56xAqgH35-xAtgHANIIDxACMgEAOgifwICAgIAEEPoLAggBgAwB0BUBgBcB&num=1&cid=CAQSUwBygQiDfIPsOTRkjL0LaWKXYEkonZWZkPDK2T8y9au9rh0jNsQisxrbqQ7HcyMkvuUMoyof9_-e8DDRLzvCEmgeA0nO_LJZ8owBKZUJ9iJYRghAGAEgCA&sig=AOD64_2FCurmKH7uQLOjzyqqOvXXOVH-kA&client=ca-pub-1991679624331369&adurl=https%3A%2F%2Fus.creativecdn.com%2Fclicks%3Fid%3D20230417_mTyBgzpg4LS2VVMCgQQx%26tk%3Dh8VxdtEkZlSI88R9HJfZKLsBnOGfrph99W31QKyUInwXyJeg4QuFL_a4ggh6SW6O0-7qfGeTIiq8phU0UooCBFJ97whA5sTEJUmzF_q0ugVccTzyUbJMXVaKOdmzm4tPIDYFF4L0vaWg58cDsF1rBVlBo8R_KL8pdh0P3xBBCGzTtQkHmWUUOaOYkHj_Xxo1tQJhjVfeZyZ_8Jc1TNRY4ordJ9K9bljhq2bAuHYqHCAWNdRxM0SLNyrRjzct-tSQSHUygdWXXb4pA0BLK5oikLNwPA75EuNbzU3KTU5vA5F4E2Wh1VHZ_nwJusgC8vIMAhG_L4Gu8eHxCM2V77IvaVAPVgkUusFRHrZTazfvxW2_6LgK4SuXAkJoq3fppFgDw6H3OfBu4JoYLEhQhlzU1CcNgRwcjw23WzXCVLXdUeF7gD5HgHH0RjSaYhqbTHyM8q0YwoupzQWf_2_DCZs124CKLW3febusTNdfFxSl7eykeprgVdrao76ae3hnyGWorQp3jD-bJwg4LOONHK7zcg
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=L&ai=CqN2GXsc9ZM2nF5me4_UPuLesONDyx8VtoLDB168PwI23ARABIABgyeaBh4CAoBmCARdjYS1wdWItMTk5MTY3OTYyNDMzMTM2OcgBCeACAKgDAaoEvwJP0Cp06SLBA4eZx8ooj9HQi9ZpY6GNODXLFc0cFosskYx2tnxB187n6XrC16ubFhUAsByLaxl-yIRRjBzwSC7SfVb5AgtV3ZKS5pT459us-yd03YyBFKEdXDSW685MJ_LCfmYg8vW97TTTaQ9oTQW7CcQE6fT4akNzdQb0Q-ZvrEl0TpqHKlnPe1vv18x0Vi8RkaH98cob5tMkwOG9USeEpBXK8gk7gG8Cr0RWLBClD28GZifg0gokbhoXxT_T0Xkjz-0R2wEssDeYwFnITt2lTGzRGFPqJ2JvyGu3sUnYPYwoR4v7UCCHZEmjKOMBElFcfSUZ_iHDkkWqQzlA0DsCZcZQbBR6GqB6hh4lEQSVWJ6qyOEtXk6fWz2KkOL8GFk4OGtBNHiKlqrI36BdLcje3x4lu012Vwfw31Rxcszl4AQBgAa-h9Gh_ZannP0BoAYhiAcBkAcCqAemvhuoB5bYG6gHqpuxAqgHg62xAqgH_56xAqgH35-xAtgHANIIDxACMgEAOgifwICAgIAEEPoLAggBgAwB0BUBgBcB&num=1&cid=CAQSUwBygQiDfIPsOTRkjL0LaWKXYEkonZWZkPDK2T8y9au9rh0jNsQisxrbqQ7HcyMkvuUMoyof9_-e8DDRLzvCEmgeA0nO_LJZ8owBKZUJ9iJYRghAGAEgCA&sig=AOD64_2FCurmKH7uQLOjzyqqOvXXOVH-kA&client=ca-pub-1991679624331369&adurl=https%3A%2F%2Fus.creativecdn.com%2Fclicks%3Fid%3D20230417_mTyBgzpg4LS2VVMCgQQx%26tk%3Dh8VxdtEkZlSI88R9HJfZKLsBnOGfrph99W31QKyUInwXyJeg4QuFL_a4ggh6SW6O0-7qfGeTIiq8phU0UooCBFJ97whA5sTEJUmzF_q0ugVccTzyUbJMXVaKOdmzm4tPIDYFF4L0vaWg58cDsF1rBVlBo8R_KL8pdh0P3xBBCGzTtQkHmWUUOaOYkHj_Xxo1tQJhjVfeZyZ_8Jc1TNRY4ordJ9K9bljhq2bAuHYqHCAWNdRxM0SLNyrRjzct-tSQSHUygdWXXb4pA0BLK5oikLNwPA75EuNbzU3KTU5vA5F4E2Wh1VHZ_nwJusgC8vIMAhG_L4Gu8eHxCM2V77IvaVAPVgkUusFRHrZTazfvxW2_6LgK4SuXAkJoq3fppFgDw6H3OfBu4JoYLEhQhlzU1CcNgRwcjw23WzXCVLXdUeF7gD5HgHH0RjSaYhqbTHyM8q0YwoupzQWf_2_DCZs124CKLW3febusTNdfFxSl7eykeprgVdrao76ae3hnyGWoYF-m8rjFGcTwbydh3jUvpA
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=L&ai=CqN2GXsc9ZM2nF5me4_UPuLesONDyx8VtoLDB168PwI23ARABIABgyeaBh4CAoBmCARdjYS1wdWItMTk5MTY3OTYyNDMzMTM2OcgBCeACAKgDAaoEvwJP0Cp06SLBA4eZx8ooj9HQi9ZpY6GNODXLFc0cFosskYx2tnxB187n6XrC16ubFhUAsByLaxl-yIRRjBzwSC7SfVb5AgtV3ZKS5pT459us-yd03YyBFKEdXDSW685MJ_LCfmYg8vW97TTTaQ9oTQW7CcQE6fT4akNzdQb0Q-ZvrEl0TpqHKlnPe1vv18x0Vi8RkaH98cob5tMkwOG9USeEpBXK8gk7gG8Cr0RWLBClD28GZifg0gokbhoXxT_T0Xkjz-0R2wEssDeYwFnITt2lTGzRGFPqJ2JvyGu3sUnYPYwoR4v7UCCHZEmjKOMBElFcfSUZ_iHDkkWqQzlA0DsCZcZQbBR6GqB6hh4lEQSVWJ6qyOEtXk6fWz2KkOL8GFk4OGtBNHiKlqrI36BdLcje3x4lu012Vwfw31Rxcszl4AQBgAa-h9Gh_ZannP0BoAYhiAcBkAcCqAemvhuoB5bYG6gHqpuxAqgHg62xAqgH_56xAqgH35-xAtgHANIIDxACMgEAOgifwICAgIAEEPoLAggBgAwB0BUBgBcB&num=1&cid=CAQSUwBygQiDfIPsOTRkjL0LaWKXYEkonZWZkPDK2T8y9au9rh0jNsQisxrbqQ7HcyMkvuUMoyof9_-e8DDRLzvCEmgeA0nO_LJZ8owBKZUJ9iJYRghAGAEgCA&sig=AOD64_2FCurmKH7uQLOjzyqqOvXXOVH-kA&client=ca-pub-1991679624331369&adurl=https%3A%2F%2Fus.creativecdn.com%2Fclicks%3Fid%3D20230417_mTyBgzpg4LS2VVMCgQQx%26tk%3Dh8VxdtEkZlSI88R9HJfZKLsBnOGfrph99W31QKyUInwXyJeg4QuFL_a4ggh6SW6O0-7qfGeTIiq8phU0UooCBFJ97whA5sTEJUmzF_q0ugVccTzyUbJMXVaKOdmzm4tPIDYFF4L0vaWg58cDsF1rBVlBo8R_KL8pdh0P3xBBCGzTtQkHmWUUOaOYkHj_Xxo1tQJhjVfeZyZ_8Jc1TNRY4ordJ9K9bljhq2bAuHYqHCAWNdRxM0SLNyrRjzct-tSQSHUygdWXXb4pA0BLK5oikLNwPA75EuNbzU3KTU5vA5F4E2Wh1VHZ_nwJusgC8vIMAhG_L4Gu8eHxCM2V77IvaVAPVgkUusFRHrZTazfvxW2_6LgK4SuXAkJoq3fppFgDw6H3OfBu4JoYLEhQhlzU1CcNgRwcjw23WzXCVLXdUeF7gD5HgHH0RjSaYhqbTHyM8q0YwoupzQWf_2_DCZs124CKLW3febusTNdfFxSl7eykeprgVdrao76ae3hnyGWosg_iZKoPaYY7OjjlxG_GkQ
https://optout.rtbhouse.com/?utm_source=optout_icon&oot=mh8R0Fs1lV6kX3Bkdw9yF8hiHvbpFXp8H2W1cFOb2piTh2Gkpxpr9CTSrGh4WCtztwww_Eif3d8NrjDw1KxnHjZvaBkGfHVnAThBMoRMwgz5KtzGOUq4e6MmO6wWDJLk
https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/index.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/whatworks/what-works-overview.htm
https://988lifeline.org/
https://988lifeline.org/chat/
https://nami.org/NAMI/media/NAMI-Media/Images/FactSheets/HelpLine-Resource-Directory.pdf
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/ralph-yarl-kansas-city-teen-shooting-wrong-house/?intcid=CNI-00-10aaa3b
https://youradchoices.com/


Copyright ©2023 CBS Interactive Inc. All rights reserved.

Privacy Policy

Do Not Sell My Personal Information

Terms of Use

About

Advertise

Closed Captioning

CBS News Live on Paramount+

CBS News Store

Site Map

Contact Us

Help

   

First published on February 13, 2023 / 3:33 PM

© 2023 CBS Interactive Inc. All Rights Reserved.

In: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Mental Health Suicide

Alexander Tin

CBS News reporter covering public health and the pandemic.

U.S. arrests 2 over alleged secret Chinese police outpost in New York

Ohio officers won't face state charges in fatal shooting of Jayland Walker

Jordan, Judiciary Committee ask court to toss lawsuit by Manhattan D.A.

https://www.viacomcbsprivacy.com/policy
https://www.cbsinteractive.com/legal/cbsi/terms-of-use
https://www.cbscorporation.com/
https://www.cbsinteractive.com/advertising
https://www.cbs.com/closed-captioning/
https://www.paramountplus.com/
https://www.cbsstore.com/collections/cbs-news?v=cbs-news
https://www.cbsnews.com/sitemap/
https://www.cbsnews.com/feedback/
https://cbsi.secure.force.com/CBSi/knowledgehome2?categories=CBS_Interactive:CBSNews&referer=cbsnews.com/main
https://www.cbsnews.com/tag/Centers-for-Disease-Control-and-Prevention/
https://www.cbsnews.com/tag/mental-health/
https://www.cbsnews.com/tag/suicide/
https://www.cbsnews.com/search/author/alexander-tin/
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/ralph-yarl-kansas-city-teen-shooting-wrong-house/?intcid=CNI-00-10aaa3b
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/fbi-china-police-station-new-york-2-arrested-harry-lu-jianwang-chen-jinping/?intcid=CNI-00-10aaa3b
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/jayland-walker-shooting-no-charges-ohio-officers-black-man-attorney-general/?intcid=CNI-00-10aaa3b
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/alvin-bragg-lawsuit-jim-jordan-house-judiciary-committee-manhattan-district-attorney/?intcid=CNI-00-10aaa3b
https://www.facebook.com/CBSNews/
https://twitter.com/CBSNews
https://instagram.com/cbsnews/
https://www.youtube.com/CBSNews
https://youradchoices.com/


W

CELEBRATE TIME100! SUBSCRIBE FOR

$19

SUBSCRIBE
NOW

Suicide Among Black Girls Is a Mental Health Crisis Hiding in
Plain Sight

BY KYRA AURELIA ALESSANDRINI

MAY 11, 2021 7:00 AM EDT

hen Dionne Monsanto was pregnant, she decided that she wanted to

find a name that means “blessing” for her daughter. Though Monsanto

—a Black American—has no specific ties to South Africa, she chose the name

Siwe, an adaptation of the Zulu name Busisiwe.

Siwe grew to be a talented artist. “She was brilliant. She was beautiful. She was

a writer. She was a guitar player. She was a dancer,” her mother says. Siwe was

such a gifted dancer that, at age 10, she received a scholarship to the

extracurricular program at the prestigious Ailey School in her hometown of

New York City. But Siwe was also often troubled. From early on, Siwe “was very

emotional, and would tend to cry a lot,” Monsanto says in the quiet of the

Harlem studio where she used to teach yoga and West African dance before the

studio closed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Siwe was diagnosed with anxiety

and depression at the age of 9. Schoolwork worsened her anxiety. But,

Monsanto says, most adults and peers in her daughter’s life didn’t have much

awareness of mental-health issues, and were ill-equipped to help.

https://time.com/author/kyra-aurelia-alessandrini/
https://time.com/


“What I would get from doctors was like, ‘Well, she’s a girl, you know, her

period is starting’—dismiss,” says Monsanto. But she knew there had to be

something more going on. “I couldn’t identify it,” Monsanto says, “but I felt it.”

Then, in the summer of 2011, at the age of 15, Siwe took her own life.

In the 10 years since Siwe died, stories like hers have become all too common.

Across the board, suicide rates among young Americans have risen; from 2007

to 2018, suicide rates for Americans ages 10 to 24 rose by 57%, and the increase

was particularly significant among young girls, contributing to a narrowing of

the persistent suicide gender gap. Rates plateaued from 2018 to 2019—the most

recent year with available federal data—but they stood far higher than those of

decades past. A multinational study published in the Lancet Psychiatry in April

found that U.S. suicide rates actually decreased somewhat during the early

months of the pandemic, compared to the year before it—but given spiking

anxiety and depression rates during the pandemic, which studies suggest took a

particularly harsh toll on young people, there’s good reason for continuing

concern.

The Post Office Made a

Christian Employee Work

on Sundays. Now He's at

the Supreme Court
POSTED 2 HOURS AGO

https://time.com/5590344/youth-suicide-rates/
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db398.htm
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/article/PIIS2215-0366(21)00091-2/fulltext
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6945a3.htm


Girls of color are increasingly accounting for this trend. According to one 2019

Pediatrics study, the number of white children attempting suicide in the U.S.

decreased from 1991 to 2017, while the number of Black children attempting

suicide went up. All told, about 15% of Black female high school students

attempted suicide in the year leading up to the CDC’s 2019 Youth Risk Behavior

Survey, compared to about 9% of white female students and about 12% of

Hispanic female students. Actual suicide death rates for Black American girls

ages 13 to 19 increased by 182% from 2001 to 2017, according to a 2019 study

published in the Journal of Community Health.

“Black youths are two times more likely to die by suicide compared to their

white counterparts,” says Arielle Sheftall, a researcher at the Center for Suicide

Prevention and Research at Nationwide Children’s Hospital in Columbus, Ohio,

and one of the authors of the 2019 Pediatrics study. Now, she says, “we’re

trying to figure this out.” There’s rarely a single thing that drives someone to

attempt suicide, and similarly there are many factors—from bullying to stigma

to childhood trauma and racism—but no one cause that could help to explain

the increase in suicides among Black youth. “We want to intervene, but we

don’t know what the best intervention is yet,” Sheftall says. “It’s going to take a

village, to be honest, to uncover what” could help reverse the trend,

particularly when no two suicide deaths are exactly alike.

In Siwe’s case, there may have been a devastating trigger. When she was 11, she

was sexually assaulted by her father, from whom Monsanto had separated eight

years earlier but was co-parenting with at the time. Monsanto says she learned

PAID CONTENT

Grass is greener for last of the
reindeer herders
BY CHINA DAILY

https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/144/5/e20191187
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/su/su6901a6.htm
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31102116
https://jadserve.postrelease.com/trk?ntv_at=3&ntv_ui=7e32a9f8-75c9-40d2-9501-a3cc45f5843e&ntv_a=80IIAN-1cA7icRA&ntv_fl=DhSBNg40eLKu3JwiKFRCwBhj3nFvRxb1rY-j9IpVJLQtshlYV00a5KHYN02jYRM5Owa5g9fpIdTcpnx1X9v4remadQ2UypMjW83_nNZ0IJaYi_jgR_LSiumMIExIUWon4Mj9xNS5Xt0GOFVT2s_jG42qxhZvhJ1UvGxuPe6khJYuuQeksMrlmk8uK9gMiSKkawuJlw5WkBJgZOXDV7rwsggOhDO-yXdaCUd6RH02Hitb_VtNHWOoa2ilwlpo6V5XNGwfQK_5obQbvTfnPdXvYNgo8ex604ZJjgWJGowmr_ObTHuHYuQSp1Vw7EbBub5NCwPTGvrjfCDxyIhYaRnYaw==&ord=-993746328&ntv_ht=wMc9ZAA&ntv_tad=16&ntv_r=https://partners.time.com/partners/china-daily/grass-is-greener-for-last-of-the-reindeer-herders/?prx_t=80IIAN-1cA7icRA&utm_campaign=159028&ntv_ui=7e32a9f8-75c9-40d2-9501-a3cc45f5843e&ntv_ht=wMc9ZAA
https://jadserve.postrelease.com/trk?ntv_at=3&ntv_ui=7e32a9f8-75c9-40d2-9501-a3cc45f5843e&ntv_a=80IIAN-1cA7icRA&ntv_fl=DhSBNg40eLKu3JwiKFRCwBhj3nFvRxb1rY-j9IpVJLQtshlYV00a5KHYN02jYRM5Owa5g9fpIdTcpnx1X9v4remadQ2UypMjW83_nNZ0IJaYi_jgR_LSiumMIExIUWon4Mj9xNS5Xt0GOFVT2s_jG42qxhZvhJ1UvGxuPe6khJYuuQeksMrlmk8uK9gMiSKkawuJlw5WkBJgZOXDV7rwsggOhDO-yXdaCUd6RH02Hitb_VtNHWOoa2ilwlpo6V5XNGwfQK_5obQbvTfnPdXvYNgo8ex604ZJjgWJGowmr_ObTHuHYuQSp1Vw7EbBub5NCwPTGvrjfCDxyIhYaRnYaw==&ord=-993746328&ntv_ht=wMc9ZAA&ntv_tad=16&ntv_r=https://partners.time.com/partners/china-daily/grass-is-greener-for-last-of-the-reindeer-herders/?prx_t=80IIAN-1cA7icRA&utm_campaign=159028&ntv_ui=7e32a9f8-75c9-40d2-9501-a3cc45f5843e&ntv_ht=wMc9ZAA
https://jadserve.postrelease.com/trk?ntv_at=3&ntv_ui=7e32a9f8-75c9-40d2-9501-a3cc45f5843e&ntv_a=80IIAN-1cA7icRA&ntv_fl=DhSBNg40eLKu3JwiKFRCwBhj3nFvRxb1rY-j9IpVJLQtshlYV00a5KHYN02jYRM5Owa5g9fpIdTcpnx1X9v4remadQ2UypMjW83_nNZ0IJaYi_jgR_LSiumMIExIUWon4Mj9xNS5Xt0GOFVT2s_jG42qxhZvhJ1UvGxuPe6khJYuuQeksMrlmk8uK9gMiSKkawuJlw5WkBJgZOXDV7rwsggOhDO-yXdaCUd6RH02Hitb_VtNHWOoa2ilwlpo6V5XNGwfQK_5obQbvTfnPdXvYNgo8ex604ZJjgWJGowmr_ObTHuHYuQSp1Vw7EbBub5NCwPTGvrjfCDxyIhYaRnYaw==&ord=-993746328&ntv_ht=wMc9ZAA&ntv_tad=16&ntv_r=https://partners.time.com/partners/china-daily/grass-is-greener-for-last-of-the-reindeer-herders/?prx_t=80IIAN-1cA7icRA&utm_campaign=159028&ntv_ui=7e32a9f8-75c9-40d2-9501-a3cc45f5843e&ntv_ht=wMc9ZAA


about the incident directly through Siwe’s father; he was arrested shortly after

for his crimes and ended up being incarcerated for four years. The impact on

Siwe was cataclysmic. “A piece of my daughter died that day,” she said in a 2019

talk for Dadasphere, an organization that aims at giving a voice and a platform

to women of color, primarily from Africa, but also around the world. Sexual

violence often has a long-term effect on victims. They are more prone to

depression and having suicidal thoughts than the general population; a 2014

Bureau of Justice Statistics study found that 75% of victims of sexual assault

experience “socioemotional problems,” a number that is higher than for almost

every other crime. “It was the trigger that took her over the edge,” says

Monsanto. Indeed, Siwe attempted suicide for the first time when she was 12

years old.

Over the next three years, Siwe continued to struggle, feeling pressure to

succeed at school, in her extracurricular life and socially. On June 29, 2011,

Monsanto woke her daughter before leaving their home, but Siwe crawled back

under the covers in protest. Monsanto left for an appointment with the heads

of Robert Louis Stevenson School, which she was considering as a possible

transfer destination for Siwe; her daughter’s mental health had been declining,

and she thought a change of environment could help. In the middle of the

meeting, Monsanto’s Blackberry started ringing. She ignored it. The phone rang

again. Her neighbor was trying to reach her. She ignored the call a second time,

but the third time it rang, Monsanto picked up.

“It’s Siwe,” her neighbor said.

Monsanto ran out to the street, and hailed a taxi to NewYork-

Presbyterian/Columbia University Medical Center. When she arrived, she was

stopped at the front desk, where she was told that a child without

identification had been admitted for attempted suicide. Monsanto was led to a

back room, where she showed pictures of Siwe and herself to a detective and a

social worker to verify her relationship with her daughter. They led her through

what seemed like endless hallways and turns. As she neared Siwe’s room,

Monsanto saw a doctor standing outside the door who seemed visibly

distressed.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zuLZtyd5QuU
https://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=5114
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zuLZtyd5QuU
https://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=5114


“We’re too late. She’s already dead,” she murmured to herself. She was right.

It’s not clear whether Black girls are dying by suicide in larger proportions than

they were in the past, or if those deaths are simply more likely to be counted

now. Indeed, a general lack of data is one of the key reasons why so much

remains unknown: people of color, women and adolescents are all

underrepresented in many types of medical research, with Black girls at the

center of that Venn diagram.

For a long time, Rheeda Walker says she assumed, “like a lot of other African

Americans do, that Black people don’t kill themselves.” Growing up in the

1980s and ’90s, she rarely heard suicide discussed, not in the classroom and

certainly not socially. It was only when she started a graduate program in

clinical psychology at Florida State University in 1995 that she learned what

she had been overlooking. At that time, Walker says, the suicide rate among

Black boys was rising concerningly fast. The rate was trending back downward

again by the time she graduated in 2002, but her earlier discovery was enough

to make Walker realize that her long-held assumptions about Black suicide

weren’t true—and to pique her academic interests when Black youth suicide

rates began to rise again through the mid-2000s.

Now, Walker researches African-American mental health and suicide trends at

the University of Houston. Some of her most recent research confirms that

racial discrimination can increase a person of color’s risk for suicide, but finds

that if the individual can find a way to mentally reframe experiences of racism

—viewing them as something that can be overcome, rather than ruminated

upon—it can help protect their mental health. That doesn’t mean people

should accept racism, Walker says, but it does suggest that the way painful

events are internalized matters. “The alternative is to hope racism goes away,”

Walker says. “That would be perfect and wonderful, but I try to deal with the

reality.”

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/sltb.12671
https://doi.apa.org/doiLanding?doi=10.1037%2Fcdp0000385


Given that reality, and the mental-health problems it breeds, many researchers

are joining Walker in grappling with why suicide attempts among Black people,

and in particular Black girls, are increasing at such concerning frequency. One

potential factor that keeps coming up, Walker says, is that fears of being seen

as “weak” or “crazy” can keep Black Americans from seeking help, even though

they’re precisely the people who need it most. “People who feel marginalized,

who don’t feel like their lives are of value, who don’t feel like they are

connected in the ways others are connected, are going to be more at risk of

suicide,” she says. “It seems to me, inherently, that when you’re a member of a

racial minority group you will, almost, by default, end up in those groups.” Add

the many stresses of being a teenage girl, from social media to sexism, and you

get a potent mixture of risk factors for self-harm.

Stormiyah Denson-Jackson dreamed of becoming a model when, at 12 years old,

she was found unconscious in her dormitory room at the SEED School of

Washington, D.C., in January 2018. William J. Lightfoot, her mother’s attorney,

says Stormiyah had reported being bullied to teachers and administrators, but

no one listened. Her parents filed a lawsuit against the SEED charter school,

charging that the school did nothing to prevent the constant bullying.

Lightfoot says his client is happy with the settlement agreement reached in

December 2020, though would not comment any further on the case. (The SEED

School of Washington, D.C., did not respond to TIME’s multiple requests for

comment.)

Other experts in the field, however, say that bullying seems to be one of the

causes of the increase in suicide attempts among Black youths. “Being bullied

can definitely have an adverse impact on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation

and attempt,” says Amanda Nickerson, the director of the Alberti Center for

Bullying Abuse Prevention at the University at Buffalo. And in the case of Black

youths, that bullying is often racist. Meanwhile, a 2020 study published in the

Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology found a strong correlation

between experiences of racial discrimination and signs of depression among

Black teens. According to the study, Black teenagers face an average of five

racially discriminatory experiences every day.

https://time.com/5650266/social-media-girls-mental-health/
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0193397319300462


The research also suggests that most of the discriminatory incidents occur

online. That’s especially problematic during the pandemic, when many people

—particularly young people—are effectively living their lives behind screens,

with little reprieve available for those facing cyberbullying. Research has

shown that girls are more susceptible than boys to mental-health issues related

to social media use and cyberbullying, and for children of color, the Internet

can be a particularly traumatic place. Online, images of lynching and the use of

slurs are posted frequently. Videos of Black people being brutalized have been

widespread in the last decade.

Nickerson says that authority figures like parents and teachers are less likely to

notice cyberbullying than offline bullying. That, in turn, could foster more

systematic bullying. All of that combines to make policing social media

platforms and ensuring safety for the young Black people on them even more

critical. “App and social media administrators have an ethical and moral

obligation to explicitly practice antiracism, to not tolerate racist rhetoric to be

on their platforms,” says Devin English, one of the authors of the 2020 Journal

of Applied Developmental Psychology study. “When they don’t address racism,

they are implicitly validating and accepting its expression.”

Experts agree that suicide can be avoided, through a combination of regular

social, emotional and psychological support. But preventing suicide among

Black women and girls necessitates a better understanding of the risk factors

that precede it. Some research suggests that teaching kids skills like resilience

and emotional regulation—equipping them with the tools required to

understand, vocalize and manage their feelings—could help promote healthy

coping strategies for life. And many experts say schools should play a primary

role in not only monitoring a child’s mental health but teaching them these

sorts of skills. In some parts of the U.S., these tactics are being tested in the

real world. Since 2012, the South Capitol Street Memorial Amendment Act in

Washington, D.C., requires teachers to undertake behavioral health training

through Kognito, an online platform designed to prepare teachers to identify

signs of distress among students and direct them to appropriate support if

https://time.com/5650266/social-media-girls-mental-health/


needed. Other states, like New York, New Mexico and Maine, require mental-

health instruction to be given to children in all grade levels.

But for Stormiyah Denson-Jackson, that training came too late. Personnel at

her D.C. public charter school had their first mental-health training in July

2018, over five months after her death, says Lightfoot, the family’s lawyer. He

also says the school should be held accountable for failing to correctly assess

Stormiyah’s mental health prior to her death. She was marked as low risk for  

suicide in a December 2017 school assessment. A month later, Stormiyah was

gone.

Lillian Polanco-Roman, an assistant professor of psychology at the New School

for Social Research in New York City, says there’s a fundamental lack of data

about the risk factors for youth suicide. Clinicians know the signs to look for in

adults—but many children never exhibit these same red flags before attempting

suicide, Polanco-Roman says. Among Black youth, depression can manifest as

interpersonal or behavioral problems, low self-esteem or pessimism, rather

than the low mood and lethargy typically associated with adult depression. “If

these kids are not being flagged for depression,” and are instead punished or

marked as “problem” children, Polanco-Roman says, “they’re overlooked.”

The entrenched consequences of systemic racism mean Black children also are

more likely to experience “adverse childhood events” at disproportionate rates,

says Polanco-Roman. These could include traumas like the death or

incarceration of a parent, poverty, community violence or neglect. If these

issues aren’t rightfully treated as potential precursors to a mental-health issue,

kids may slip through the cracks.

One way to address this is to hold schools accountable for combatting bullying

and harassment against minorities—and one of the best approaches to do that

is to ensure they are teaching tolerance, says Nickerson. Schools need to make

certain students “learn about the injustices that have been done in the past and

that will continue to happen,” she says, if they want to prevent ethnic-based

harassment. Discussion and dialogue about historical events such as the civil

rights movement or the Holocaust is key; so is making a greater effort to

present minority figures as role models and giving positive examples of

https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/51132640/s10826-006-9039-820161231-2137-ttxewc.pdf?1483203308=&response-content-disposition=inline%3B+filename%3DRacial_socialization_experiences_and_sym.pdf&Expires=1617202447&Signature=AO3~j2FKm5LGC24BQTOVjn6pl9vhXuxTXjYQ8UGAPq8QQzTFHQWzY6vzIaIo1FMnJpz9Dq3TUytbMVHqSYijTuxSE6Vc47Z553Fb3KDvsCT6zadA890s3pNwzdbCrNfQ3zjnpTjbZioaNA6NZQ2f3wwQLnDr3n6GJe2GjK~2ffv-3Zo06HXFZysbmRn69QUMEegIRo~rFBov3Xa~HwwffYqjFXaAxWM2Aoyx0OOH0LTaIbym9N8c4Qkql7IGOjS2UYqmBK1qMHbSZ13d12tN3ZG6ol1g-k276zebJYkw5PoW5oqvB6ADnnJ0RYZG1K1tIExz35htnQjc13reTkKOWg__&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA


diversity. “When you encounter someone who is different than you, it’s a pretty

normal reaction to have stereotypical thoughts,” Nickerson says. “But how can

you consciously think about that and get to know people as individuals and

recognize their strengths?”

The majority of U.S. primary-school teachers in the country are white and

female, according to data from the National Center for Education Statistics, and

this lack of diversity presents a barrier to preventing bullying directed toward

minorities, says Francis Huang, an associate professor of educational, school

and counseling psychology at the University of Missouri. For these teachers,

understanding the challenges minorities are faced with may be difficult as they

are outsiders to that community, says Huang. Further, these teachers don’t

have access to the resources they need to better understand the challenges of

their students of color, because there is no national antibullying organization

that focuses on children of color, Nickerson notes.

Another significant challenge is the stigmatization of mental health in Black

communities, says Sheftall, which leads to a crucial lack of information

regarding mental illness or emotional distress. Many Black children struggle to

find adults in their lives who are willing to take their mental-health concerns

seriously. “There’s stigma in the generation they’re supposed to be getting help

from,” Walker says. “Adults are asleep at the wheel, and I think adults are

asleep at the wheel because of [their own] undiagnosed depression and

anxiety.” That makes it difficult to know when a child is at risk. “Because of

that, we’re reaching out to kids when it’s too late,” says Sheftall, when they

“already are in a really unsafe space.” Helping Black youth may require

untangling generations-old ideas of what it means to seek mental-health care,

and what it can do for the person who seeks it.

There are reasonable explanations for the existence of these stigmas, given the

fraught history Black Americans have with the U.S. health care system. Perhaps

the most well-known example is the Tuskegee syphilis study, a series of

experiments conducted on Black American men by the U.S. Public Health

Service between 1932 and 1972. Hundreds of men with syphilis infections were

told they had “bad blood” and were promised medical care. It was a lie.

https://nces.ed.gov/datapoints/2020103.asp
https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_clr.asp


Mistrust in the health care system remains an ongoing concern in the Black

community. A 2020 study conducted by The Undefeated and the Kaiser Family

Foundation, for example, found that 70% of Black adults surveyed agreed that

the U.S. health care system treats people differently based on their race or

ethnicity. Maternal mortality is one particularly glaring example. A Black

woman in the U.S. is more than three times more likely than a white woman to

die from pregnancy-related causes, according to CDC data. All told, about a

fifth of Black U.S. adults are in fair or poor health, in part because of strained

relationships with the health care system. “They might not be willing to

actually go and see a physician, or see a psychologist, or see a therapist,

because they don’t feel like they’re going to get the help that they need,” says

Sheftall. Compounding that issue, Sheftall says, is the lack of diversity among

psychiatrists and psychologists, particularly in rural areas.

Because some Black Americans turn away from specialized mental-health

centers, they may be more likely to seek help at community gathering places

like churches or barbershops, says Dr. William Lawson, the former head of

psychiatry at Howard University and a board member of the Health Ministry at

Zion Baptist Church in Washington. Sheftall says this could be a good thing. “If

we are able to do some prevention in places where people feel safe, it would

make it more palatable,” says Sheftall. Barbershops and salons, Sheftall notes,

could open up “gatekeeper training” to their clients—educating them on how to

recognize the signs of mental-health distress and what puts individuals at risk,

and offering practical solutions in case a child needs help.

Social support is a well-established predictor of mental well-being. One 2010

study published in the Social Service Review even found that support from

one’s community could sometimes moderate the negative effects of trauma. For

people of color, community identity may be particularly important: Studies

dating back decades have shown that people who view their racial or ethnic

identity positively also tend to have higher self-esteem and better mental

health.

Community-based mental-health programs could help, but such initiatives are

scarce, because they rely on personal initiative from members of the

community. Most nationwide mental-health organizations do not create

https://www.kff.org/report-section/kff-the-undefeated-survey-on-race-and-health-main-findings/#HealthCareSystem
https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2019/p0905-racial-ethnic-disparities-pregnancy-deaths.html
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/black-health.htm
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5633215/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2865201/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1315285/


programs specifically targeted to children of color. Some parents affected by

their children’s mental-health issues have tried to fill in those gaps. Dionne

Monsanto, for example, started volunteering at the American Foundation for

Suicide Prevention (AFSP) even before her daughter’s death. Today, Monsanto

is one of the board members of AFSP’s Chapter Leadership Council, which

oversees all chapters across the country.

The day Siwe died is still fresh in her memory, and Monsanto replays it

regularly, in search of answers. On her first Christmas without Siwe, Monsanto

posted a video to a Facebook page memorializing her daughter. In it, Siwe sits

on a couch, her eyes focused on a tablet she holds on her lap, reading the lyrics

to “Santa Baby.” She’s singing along merrily. Across the page, Monsanto writes

“#loveNEVERdies.”

—With reporting by Leslie Dickstein, Jamie Ducharme, and Julia Zorthian

If you or someone you know may be contemplating suicide, call the National

Suicide Prevention Lifeline at 1-800-273-8255 or text HOME to 741741 to reach

the Crisis Text Line. In emergencies, call 911, or seek care from a local hospital

or mental health provider.

Correction, May 13

The original version of this story misstated where Siwe was bullied. It was

Leake and Watts School, not Midtown West Elementary School. The original

version of this story also misstated how long Siwe’s father was incarcerated.

While he was sentenced to five years, he spent four years in prison.

CONTACT US AT LETTERS@TIME.COM.

mailto:letters@time.com?subject=(READER%20FEEDBACK)%20Suicide%20Among%20Black%20Girls%20Is%20a%20Mental%20Health%20Crisis%20Hiding%20in%20Plain%20Sight&body=https%3A%2F%2Ftime.com%2F6046773%2Fblack-teenage-girls-suicide%2F


Internal 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7000    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981.7099 
E-mail: manager@ci.berkeley.ca.us 

 
Commission on the Status of Women 
 
 

Date:    April 17, 2023  

To:    Mayor and Members of the Berkeley City Council  

From:   Commission on the Status of Women  

Submitted by:  Carole Marasovic, Chair 

Subject:   Transition house for those fleeing domestic violence/gender-based  

violence/intimate partner violence and sex trafficking victims 

 
The Commission on the Status of Women voted during the March 15, 2023 commission 
meeting as follows: 
 
Action: M/S/C Rodriguez/Seshagiri voted to write a letter to Council in support of the  
Homeless Services Panel of Experts’ letter of recommendation to City Council to allocate 
funding towards a transition house for women and women-identifying fleeing from domestic 
violence, gender-based violence, intimate partner violence and sex trafficking.  
 
Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Rodriguez, Seshagiri 
 Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Henneman, Posey. Excused: Simon  
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Carole Marasovic, Chair 
Commission on the Status of Women 
 
 
cc: Attachment: Homeless Services Panel of Experts' letter to Council February 1, 2023 
 



Public 

 
Berkeley Homeless  
Services Panel of Experts 
 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.225.8035    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts  

To:  Mayor and Members of the Berkeley City Council 
From:   Homeless Services Panel of Experts 
Submitted by:  Cameron Johnson, Chair 
Subject:  Gender-based/domestic violence transition house-ARP/HOME monies 
 
The Homeless Services Panel of Experts (HSPE), during the 2022 Measure P funding process, 
submitted a recommendation that monies in the amount of $600,000 be allocated towards a 
gender-based/domestic violence transition house: 
 
Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Bookstein move to recommend that some Measure P monies be 
allocated to people experiencing domestic violence/gender-based violence in a shelter and/or 
transitional housing program. This residential setting should provide services for singles as well 
as families with targeted services and resources available for domestic/gender-based violence. 
The program should serve approximately ten singles or families.  
 
Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Jones, De la Guardia, Meany, Feller.  

Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None. 
 
In February, 2023, HSPE reaffirmed their commitment to funding in that direction. 
 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Jones move to recommend affirming earlier HSPE 
recommendations for a crisis stabilization center and a domestic violence transition house, 
both to be funded through Measure P monies. 

 
Vote:   Ayes:  Johnson, Jones, Marasovic, Feller, Kealoha-Blake, and Meany. 
            Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Bookstein. 

 
Since that time, HSPE has become aware of the 2.7 million available in HOME-ARP funding to 
address homelessness for which a staff report, and recommendation, was issued that went to 
the Housing Advisory Commission. In the future, HSPE recommends that all homeless funding 
recommendations also come to HSPE as HSPE has assumed the previous role of the 
Homeless Commission as well as making other recommendations on how homeless services 
monies are to be spent. 
 
As to the HOME-ARP monies, one of the priority populations, established by the federal 
government, to be served is domestic violence survivors. Throughout the staff report, there are 
references to the significant numbers of women fleeing domestic violence in Berkeley. 
 
Furthermore, in the staff survey of programs serving the homeless as to gaps, on p. 3-4 of the 
report, the Berkeley Police Department identified the lack of shelter/housing for victims of 
domestic violence and sex trafficking as a critical need. 
 

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Public 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.225.8035    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts 

During the last 3 years, there has been no domestic violence setting not only in Berkeley but 
anywhere in Alameda County for women to go who are fleeing domestic violence.  As BPD 
pointed out, the same lack of housing/shelter is also not available to women fleeing sex 
trafficking. Women cannot be immediately sheltered and if they wait several days, will be placed 
in a general homeless shelter where their confidentiality and thus, safety is compromised.  If 
women seek a domestic violence residential setting, they are referred out of county to Antioch 
and Pittsburgh. 
 
Staff has prioritized supportive services for ARP-HOME funding. While HSPE also recommends 
supportive services, HSPE requests that a portion of these 2.7 million in monies be directed 
towards a gender-based/domestic violence transition house or that Council otherwise fulfill this 
critical safety, treatment and homelessness need. 
 
Om March 8, 2023, the Homeless Services Panel of Experts passed a motion as follows: 
 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Meany recommends that the staff recommendation for 
support services for HOME-ARP monies include a segment of those monies be 
directed to a gender-based/domestic violence transition house which would also 
serve sex trafficking victims. If HOME-ARP monies are not to be so utilized, then 
that Council identify another source of funding for this purpose and refer to staff for 
implementation.  

 
Vote:   Ayes:  Johnson, Bookstein, Marasovic, Kealoha-Blake, and Meany. 
            Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Jones, Feller. 

 
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Cameron Johnson, Chair 
Homeless Services Panel of Experts 
 

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx

	agenda page 1
	agenda page 2
	Land Acknowledgment Statement for each meeting
	3-15-23 COSOW DRAFT MINUTES
	City to consider creating task force to combat sex trafficking
	Crime data--2023-03-14 Special Agenda Packet - Council
	2023-03-14 Special Agenda - Council
	2023-03-14 WS Item 01 Berkeley Police Department

	CDCmaternal-mortality-rates-2021
	Maternal Mortality Rates in the United States, 2021
	Data source and methods
	References
	Suggested citation

	CDCmaternal-mortality-rates-2021Table
	Maternal Mortality Rates in the United States, 2021
	Data source and methods
	References
	Suggested citation

	2023 Black Maternal Health Week - Black Mamas Matter Alliance
	Article
	CDC data shows U.S. teen girls ‘in crisis’ with unprecedented rise in suicidal behavior _ PBS NewsHour
	Nearly a third of teen girls say they have seriously considered suicide, CDC survey shows - CBS News
	Suicide Among Black Girls Is a Hidden Mental Health Crisis _ Time
	Letter to M&C from COSOW re gender-based and domestic violence transition house-ARP-HOME monies
	HSPE Letter - Gender-based.domestic violence transition house-ARPHOME monies



